# Conservation genetic study of a mangrove plant genus *Bruguiera*

February 2016

Junya Ono

Graduate School of Science

CHIBA UNIVERSITY

# Conservation genetic study of a mangrove plant genus *Bruguiera*

(マングローブ植物オヒルギ属の保全遺伝学的研究)

2016年2月

千葉大学 大学院 理学研究科

地球生命圏科学専攻 生物学コース

小野 潤哉

# Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	1			
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	- 3 -			
Why mangroves are important and subject to conservation	- 3 -			
The need for conservation genetics in mangroves	- 4 -			
The genus <i>Bruguiera</i> as a model system for conservation genetic	s of			
mangroves	- 5 -			
Overview of this study	- 6 -			
CHAPTER 1: PHYLOGENETIC STUDY ON A CRITICALLY ENDA	ANGERED			
SPECIES BRUGUIERA HAINESII AND ITS RELATED SPECIES	- 7 -			
Introduction	- 7 -			
Materials and Methods	- 9 -			
Plant Materials	- 9 -			
DNA extraction	- 9 -			
DNA amplification and sequencing	- 9 -			
Data analysis	- 11 -			
Results	- 13 -			
Nuclear DNA sequencing	- 13 -			
Chloroplast DNA sequencing	- 14 -			
Discussion	- 15 -			
Hybrid origin of Bruguiera hainesii	- 15 -			
Phylogenetic relationships among the genus Bruguiera	- 17 -			
Conservation implication of Bruguiera hainesii				
Tables and Figures	- 20 -			

### CHAPTER 2: GLOBAL GENETIC STRUCTURE OF BRUGUIERA

GYMNORHIZA	- 25 -
Introduction	- 25 -
Materials and Methods	- 29 -
Plant materials	- 29 -
DNA extraction	- 29 -
Microsatellite analyses	- 29 -
Chloroplast DNA amplification and sequencing	- 30 -
Data analyses	- 31 -
Results	- 33 -
Microsatellite analyses	- 33 -
Chloroplast DNA analyses	- 35 -
Discussion	- 37 -
Population genetic structure of <i>B. gymnorhiza</i>	- 37 -
Genetic distinctiveness of <i>B. gymnorhiza</i> and <i>B. sexangula</i>	- 40 -
Recognition of CUs in Bruguiera gymnorhiza	- 41 -
Tables and Figures	- 43 -
GENERAL DISCUSSION	- 57 -
CONCLUSION	- 61 -
REFERENCES	- 62 -
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	- 80 -

### ABSTRACT

Mangroves are an intertidal forest ecosystem distributed in the subtropical and tropical regions of the world. Mangroves provide critical ecosystem services such as coastal protection, carbon sequestration and as a breeding ground for marine animals. However, the ecosystem as a whole is endangered due to anthropogenic disturbances and, therefore, needs urgent conservation. Conservation genetic research can help us plan conservation strategies, however, there is no clear consensus on conservation genetics of mangroves because most species still retain their broad distribution range as compared to other threatened species. Furthermore, knowledge of the genetic diversity of mangroves has not been well understood and not used for actual conservation actions. This study focuses on a mangrove genus *Bruguiera* as a model system of conservation genetics for mangrove plants. Firstly, a phylogenetic study of all species in the genus, including a critically endangered species *B. hainesii*, was conducted with both nuclear and chloroplast DNA markers. The results indicated that B. hainesii is a hybrid between *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. cylindrica*, thus undermining its current conservation status. Secondly, the phylogeographic study on the most widely distributed mangrove species, B. gymnorhiza, was conducted using nuclear microsatellite and chloroplast DNA markers, using samples obtained across its distribution range. The genetic structure detected in this study was not only across the Malay Peninsula but also within oceanic regions. In conclusion, the author made two recommendations for conservation of mangroves based on the findings of this study. First, species identity of other threatened mangrove species should be confirmed via phylogenetic analyses and conservation effort should be allocated appropriately. Second, according to the range-wide genetic study of *B. gymnorhiza*, a clearer structure was found than

previously thought, which can be considered as conservation units. Conservation units of other mangrove species should be determined by conducting phylogeographic analyses covering their entire distribution ranges.

### GENERAL INTRODUCTION

#### Why mangroves are important and subject to conservation

Mangroves are an intertidal forest ecosystem distributed in the subtropical to tropical regions of the world. The major components of mangroves are woody plant species belonging to several unrelated angiosperm families. The global distribution of mangrove species is divided into two main regions, the Indo-West Pacific (IWP) and the Atlantic-East Pacific (AEP), without any species commonly distributed between the regions except for a fern species, *Acrostichum aureum*. Most species within each region has a wide distribution range (Tomlinson 1986). They have uniquely adapted characteristics to cope with environmental conditions in estuarine and coastal habitats. For example, mangroves have the ability to tolerate high salinity (Parida & Jha 2010). Their dispersal system is also adapted for sea dispersal, as all true mangrove species have propagules (fruit, seed, or seedling) that are buoyant in fresh, brackish and/or sea water (Tomlinson 1986).

Mangrove plants are important regarding the ecosystem services that they provide (Tomlinson 1986). Mangrove forests are nurseries for various marine organisms (Robertson & Duke 1987, Primavera 1998). They can protect inland areas from storms and tsunamis (Fosberg 1971, Dahdouh-Guebas et al. 2005). Also, mangroves sequester up to 25.5 million tonnes of carbon per year (Ong 1993).

However, the ecosystem as a whole is endangered due to anthropogenic disturbances and, therefore, is in urgent need for conservation (Polidoro et al. 2010). Mangroves are threatened by drastic land use change e.g. conversion into aquaculture ponds (Alongi 2002), over-exploitation for fuels and timbers (Valiela et al. 2001), and industrial and urban development (Field 1998). Recent reports warned that about 20 to 35 % of world mangrove area has been lost in the last two decades (Valiela et al. 2001, FAO 2007). This critical loss of mangrove area may increase the risk of extinction for mangrove species. Thus, these threats to mangroves are a great concern for conservation.

#### The need for conservation genetics in mangroves

Conservation genetics is fundamental for conservation to reduce the extinction risk of threatened species. Conservation genetics uses genetic tools and concepts to provide practical solutions to conservation problems (Hedrick & Miller 1992). For example, phylogenetic information can help in prioritizing the species to be protected (Faith 1992). Genetic diversity parameters that can detect inbreeding, loss of genetic diversity and population fragmentation can be used to inform conservation strategies to minimize these adverse effects (Frankham et al. 2010). On the other hand, isolated populations could have unique local adaptations and may cause a case in which maladapted genes are introduced to restored populations and may undermine the success of conservation activities (Mckay et al. 2005). Therefore, genetic tools can facilitate the detection of populations vulnerable to not only genetic diversity loss but also genetic pollution.

There are fundamental differences between mangroves and other threatened species when we think about the application of genetics to conservation. Endangered species have small population size (Beissinger & Westphal 1998). In contrast, most mangrove species have a wide distribution range despite the rapid decline of their habitats and fragmentation of populations. The effects of habitat loss on individual mangrove species are not well known (Polidoro et al. 2010). Widespread mangrove species such as *Avicennia* produces an enormous number of sea-dispersed propagules and, therefore, the species may be genetically panmictic (Duke et al. 1998). If this is a general case for mangroves, habitat loss may not have a significant influence on mangrove species on a global scale. However, this idea has not to be proven yet.

A significant knowledge gap in conservation genetics of mangroves is the genetic structure of a species across its entire distribution range. Recently population genetic studies have increased our understanding of the genetic patterns in mangroves (Triest 2008); however most of these studies had limited sampling coverage. Studies covering wide distribution range are rather frequent in the AEP (*Rhizophora*; Takayama et al. 2013, *Avicennia*; Mori et al. 2015a). Although the species richness of mangroves is much higher in the IWP, few studies with broad sampling scheme have been conducted (see Chapter 2). Thus, there is still no clear consensus on population genetic study of mangroves.

#### The genus Bruguiera as a model system for conservation genetics of mangroves

*Bruguiera* is a widespread genus in the IWP (Tomlison 1986, Duke & Ge 2011). This genus consists of six species, *Bruguiera gymnnorhiza* (L.) Lamk., *Bruguiera sexangula* (Lour.) Poir., *Bruguiera exaristata* Ding Hou, *Bruguiera hainesii* C. G. Rogers, *Bruguiera cylindrica* (L.) Bl., and *Bruguiera parviflora* Wight and Arnold ex Griffith (Tomlinson 1986).

In this study, the author focused on *Bruguiera* as a model system for conservation genetic studies of mangroves because of the following reasons. First, the genus has a critically endangered mangrove species *B. hainesii*, which was concerned as closest to extinction among all mangrove species (Polidoro et al. 2010). This species can be an appropriate model species to understand the genetic diversity of threatened mangrove species, but no genetic study has been conducted for the species. Second, *Bruguiera* has the most widely distributed mangrove species *B. gymnorhiza* in the IWP and all mangrove plants, covering almost the whole IWP region (Tomlinson 1986). Therefore, *B. gymnorhiza* can be a suitable model species to understand the genetic diversity of widespread mangrove species.

#### Overview of this study

This dissertation has two main objectives. First, the author aimed to clarify the phylogenetic relationships between critically endangered species *Bruguiera hainesii* and its close relatives. Second, the author investigated the genetic structure of the most widely distributed species *B. gymnorhiza* over the IWP. By combining the findings from these two chapters, the author aimed to provide practical suggestions on the conservation strategies for *Bruguiera*, and for mangroves as a whole.

# CHAPTER 1: PHYLOGENETIC STUDY ON A CRITICALLY ENDANGERED SPECIES *BRUGUIERA HAINESII* AND ITS RELATED SPECIES

#### Introduction

Phylogenetic analysis of rare species and their relatives gives us essential information for conservation management. For the species with unclear systematic position, phylogenetic analyses will provide its phylogenetic relationships with other related species and help us to determine the systematic status of the species. Systematic information obtained in this way can aid in setting priorities which species should be protected (Andreasen 2005). Phylogenetic analysis can also identify the occurrence and extent of introgression through hybridization between rare species and widespread congeners (Soltis & Gitzendanner 1999). Hybridization with other species may raise the risk of extinction of the rare species because hybridization may cause reduction of the ability of reproduction, competition, and interaction with disease-causing agents and predators, and, therefore, limit the growth of the populations (Levin et al. 1996). For these reasons, phylogenetic analysis is a first study which should be conducted when we plan conservation of an endangered plant species.

Bruguiera hainesii C. G. Rogers is one of the two mangrove species classified under the category "Critically Endangered (CR)" within the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (Duke et al. 2010c). The species has a wide geographic distribution extending from Myanmar and Thailand through the Malay Archipelago to Papua New Guinea (Tomlinson 1986, Sheue et al. 2005). However, fewer than 250 mature individuals are currently known, and the species is considered as the rarest mangrove species (Kochummen 1989, Sheue et al. 2005, Polidoro et al. 2010). Polidoro et al. (2010) suggested that urgent protection is needed for the remaining individuals of *B. hainesii* as well as carrying out further research to determine minimum viable population size.

Although *Bruguiera hainesii* is a highly prioritized mangrove species for conservation, understanding its phylogenetic position that would be useful for implementing scientific-based conservation strategies has not been well understood. Schwarzbach & Ricklefs (2000) provided the most comprehensive molecular phylogenetic study for the genus *Bruguiera* to date, but *B. hainesii* was not included in the study. Furthermore, phylogenetic relationships within the various species of *Bruguiera* were based on morphological characters. There are two groups of *Bruguiera* recognized by morphological traits, one with the large, solitary-flowered group (*B. cylindrica* and *B. parviflora*) (Hou 1957, 1958). *B. hainesii*, which has large flowers in multiple-flowered inflorescences, was considered at an intermediate position between the two groups. Thus, phylogenetic and conservation statuses of *B. hainesii* remain poorly understood.

In this chapter, the author conducted molecular phylogenetic analyses for all six *Bruguiera* species including *B. hainesii* to determine the phylogenetic position of the critically endangered species and to evaluate the genetic diversity of the species for further understanding and designing a science-based conservation strategy. the author used chloroplast DNA (cpDNA) and two single-copy nuclear DNA markers to elucidate a clear evolutionary history of the species.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Plant Materials

Leaf samples collected for this study are as followings: nine individuals of *Bruguiera hainesii* from five populations in Malaysia and Singapore, 14 individuals of *B. gymnorhiza* from 12 populations in Mozambique, India, Myanmar, Malaysia, Vietnam, Philippines, Japan, Australia and Fiji, three individuals of *B. sexangula* from three populations in Myanmar, Malaysia and Vietnam, two individuals of *B. exaristata* from two populations in Australia, six individuals of *B. cylindrica* from four populations in India, Malaysia, Singapore and Philippines and one individual of *B. parviflora* from one population in Vietnam (Table 1-1). I used one individual of *Rhizophora stylosa* as an outgroup. Leaf samples were dried by silica gel powder and kept in plastic bags for subsequent DNA extraction.

#### DNA extraction

Total genomic DNA was extracted from the dried leaf material using the CTAB extraction method (Doyle & Doyle 1987). All samples were purified using GENECLEAN III Kit (MP Biomedicals). The extracted DNA was used for nuclear and chloroplast DNA analyses.

#### DNA amplification and sequencing

All samples were genotyped with two nuclear gene; Cellulose synthase (*CesA*) was amplified by the primer pair of Cronn et al. (1999), and *UNK* by that of Urashi et al. (2013), respectively. To obtain improved sequencing, a new forward internal primer, *CesA*-1150F (5'-CCACCTGAGCAGCAGCAGATGGAAG-3'), was designed for *CesA* according to draft sequence results obtained using the PCR primers. The samples were also sequenced at three cpDNA regions, *trnL-trn*F, *trn*S-*trn*G and *atp*B-*rbc*L intergenic spacers (IGSs), by the primer pairs of Taberlet et al. (1991), Hamilton (1999) and Savolainen et al. (1994), respectively.

PCR amplifications were carried out with *ExTaq* polymerase (TaKaRa Bio Inc.). Total reaction volume was 10  $\mu$ L of which total DNA was 0.5  $\mu$ L (10-100 ng). The protocol was as follows: an initial denaturation step (95 °C for 1 min) followed by 30-35 cycles of denaturation, annealing, and elongation steps (95 °C for 45 sec, Tm for 45 sec, and 72 °C for 1 min) and a final elongation step (72 °C for 10 min), in which the Tms (annealing temperatures) were 61 °C for *CesA* and 58 °C for *trn*L-*trn*F and *trn*S-*trn*G IGSs. For UNK and atpB-rbcL IGS, a Touchdown PCR procedure was performed with a Tm decrease of 0.5 °C per cycle (from 55 °C to 50 °C) during the first 10 cycles. The PCR products were purified with Exo-Star kit (GE-Healthcare) and then sequenced using the BigDye Terminator cycle sequencing kit v3.1 (Applied Biosystems) with an ABI 3500 automated sequencer (Applied Biosystems). Whenever the sequencing results of nuclear gene regions exhibited double peaks at more than one site (suggesting heterozygosity), single-strand conformation polymorphism of PCR products (PCR-SSCP) was performed to separate allelic DNA fragments following the method of Jaruwattanaphan et al. (2013). After separating each DNA band, I re-amplified the DNA obtained and performed direct sequencing following the method described above.

DNA sequences were aligned and manually corrected by using MEGA6 (Tamura et al. 2013) and aligned using the Clustal W algorithm (Thompson et al. 1994) included in the software. For *R. stylosa* samples, sequences of *trnS-trnG* IGS could not be completely determined due to poly-A site located at about 300 bp from the *trn*G gene.

Thus, only 300-bp from the *trn*G end of the sequence was used for subsequent phylogenetic analyses. The resulting nucleotide sequences were deposited in DDBJ as accessions LC076503 to LC076548 for *Ces*A, LC076391 to LC076437 for *UNK*, LC075996 to LC076031 for *trn*L-*trn*F IGS, LC076032 to LC076067 for *trn*S-*trn*G IGS and LC076068 to LC076103 for *atp*B-*rbc*L IGS.

#### Data analysis

I concatenated sequences of all three cpDNA regions (trnL-trnF, trnS-trnG and *atpB* rbcL IGSs). Only one representative sequence of each haplotype was used for subsequent phylogenetic analyses. The nuclear gene sequences and the concatenated cpDNA sequence were analyzed separately using Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo method implemented in MrBayes 3.2 (Ronquist et al. 2012) and maximum parsimony (MP) method implemented in PAUP\* version 4.0b10 (Swofford 2002). For Bayesian method, nucleotide substitution model was determined for each two nuclear loci and three cpDNA regions by the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) method implemented in the program jModeltest2 (Darriba et al. 2012). The best fitting models were used as priors in MrBayes: HKY for nuclear CesA gene and cpDNA trnL-trnF IGS, K80 for nuclear UNK gene and F81 for trnS-trnG and atpB-rbcL IGSs. Two independent runs with one cold and three heated Metropolis-Coupled Monte-Carlo Markov chains (MCMCMC) were conducted simultaneously for 10 million generations, in which trees were sampled every 100 generations. The first 25% of the trees were discarded as burn-in and the remaining trees were used to calculate a majority rule consensus tree. Default conditions and priors were used in all cases. Stationarity of the output parameters were examined by using the program Tracer v. 1.6 (Rambaut & Drummond

2013). For the MP method, a heuristic search was performed with 100 random addition sequence replicates involving tree-bisection-reconnection (TBR) branch swapping. Bootstrap analysis (Felsenstein 1985) was performed using 10,000 replicates with TBR branch swapping and the simple addition of sequences.

Statistical parsimony networks were constructed using TCS 1.21 (Clement et al. 2000) to visualize the relationships among alleles for the two nuclear genes and among cpDNA haplotypes.

#### Results

#### Nuclear DNA sequencing

The nucleotide sequence length determined were 594–597 bp for nuclear *Ces*A and 398 bp for nuclear *UNK*. The aligned sequences of *Ces*A and *UNK*, in which all gap sites were excluded, were 594 bp and 398 bp in length, respectively. Among six *Bruguiera* species and *Rhizophora stylosa*, a total of 11 and nine alleles were detected from nuclear *Ces*A and *UNK* genes, respectively (Table 1-1 and Figs. 1-1a, b).

Bruguiera hainesii did not have species-specific alleles at both CesA and UNK genes (Table 1-1). All nine *B. hainesii* samples from five populations were heterozygous at both nuclear loci, in which one haplotype was shared with *B. gymnorhiza* (CesA01 or CesA03, and UNK1 or UNK3), and the other one with *B. cylindrica* (CesA09 and UNK6). Furthermore, alleles shared with *B. gymnorhiza* were different among individuals of *B. hainesii*. One of the two individuals of *B. hainesii* from Klang and all individuals from Pulau Kukup and Singapore, had the allele CesA01, whereas all three *B. hainesii* individuals from Merbok and another individual from Klang were with the allele CesA03. As for UNK gene, the allele UNK3 was found only in *B. hainesii* individuals from Pulau Kukup. The other UNK alleles were not shared between species, except for UNK2, which was shared between one *B. gymnorhiza* individual (BgMYS5) and *B. sexangula*.

The MP and Bayesian methods yielded mostly identical tree topologies (Fig. 1-2 for *Ces*A gene and Fig. 1-3 for *UNK* gene). When *Rhizophora stylosa* was used as an outgroup, *B. parviflora* was a sister to other four *Bruguiera* species in the tree of *Ces*A. Alleles of *B. sexangula* and *B. exaristata* were reciprocally monophyletic, respectively (Fig. 1-2). On the other hand, four alleles found in *B. gymnorhiza* were paraphyletic

even when the alleles of *B. hainesii* showing heterozygous genotype were ignored. For *UNK* gene, even though the resolution was low, monophyly of *B. cylindrica* alleles was suggested by both MP and Bayesian methods (Fig. 1-3).

#### Chloroplast DNA sequencing

The length of nucleotide sequences determined were 277–295 bp for *trnL*·*trn*F, 572–1180 bp for *trn*S·*trn*G and 692–744 bp for *atp*B·*rbc*L IGSs. The aligned concatenated sequences without all gap sites were 1494 bp in length. A total of 14 haplotypes were recognized from the three cpDNA regions of six *Bruguiera* species and *Rhizophora stylosa*. (Table 1-1, Figs. 1-1c and 1-4). The two haplotypes found in *B. hainesii* (cp11 and cp12) were shared by *B. cylindrica*. No other haplotypes were shared among species.

The Bayesian tree with MP bootstrap values and Bayesian posterior probabilities are shown in Fig. 1-4. Because the MP and Bayesian methods gave similar topology, I showed on the Bayesian tree. Consistent with the result of nuclear *Ces*A gene, *B. parviflora* was found to be the sister to the clade of the other four *Bruguiera* species, within which two haplotypes found in *B. hainesii* and *B. cylindrica* (cp11 and cp12) were grouped together with strong supports (Fig. 1-4). Haplotypes found in *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexngula* (cp01 - cp06 for *B. gymnorhiza* and cp07 - cp09 for *B. sexangula*) also form a clade, but with weak BP bootstrap support (63%). Phylogenetic relationships among three groups, *B. gymnorhiza* - *B. sexangula* (cp01 - cp09), *B. exaristata* (cp10), and *B. hainesii* - *B. cylindrica* (cp11 - cp12), remained unresolved.

#### Discussion

#### Hybrid origin of Bruguiera hainesii

The phylogenetic analyses clearly suggest that *B. hainesii* originated through hybridization between *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. cylindrica*. There was no specific haplotype of *B. hainesii*. All nine samples of *B. hainesii* shared one nuclear haplotype with *B. cylindrica* (*Ces*A09, *UNK*6) and the other ones with *B. gymnorhiza* (*Ces*A01, *Ces*A03; *UNK*1, *UNK*3) at both loci (Table 1-1 and Figs. 1-1a, b), indicating hybrid origin of *B. hainesii*. For cpDNA, *B. hainesii* samples showed haplotypes, which were shared only with *B. cylindrica* (cp11 and cp12 in Table 1-1, Figs. 1-1c and 1-2). Since chloroplast DNA is maternally inherited in most angiosperms (Birky 1995, Mogensen 1996), *B. cylindrica* can be the putative maternal species of *B. hainesii* while *B. gymnorhiza* may serve as the paternal one. Furthermore, the distribution of the two different chloroplast haplotypes of *B. hainesii* (cp11, cp12) was equivalent to the ones of *B. cylindrica* in Malaysia and Singapore (Table 1-1), which suggests that *B. hainesii* may be formed at multiple locations where the distribution ranges of the parental species met.

The hybrid status of *Bruguiera hainesii* is also supported by the morphological features of the species. The genus *Bruguiera* consists of two groups. The group with larger leaves and larger solitary-flowered inflorescences includes *B. gymnorhiza*, *B. sexangula* and *B. exaristata*. The group with smaller leaves, smaller and multiple-flowered inflorescences of relatively small size includes *B. cylindrica* and *B. parviflora* (Tomlinson 1986, Sheue et al. 2005, Duke & Ge 2011). Although some authors placed it in the multiple-flowered group (Duke & Ge 2011), *B. hainesii* exhibits the intermediate state for these traits because it has larger flowers in multiple-flowered inflorescences (Hou 1957, 1958). Additionally, calyx lobe number of *B. hainesii* (9-11) is

also intermediate between the former and the latter groups (Tomlinson 1986, Duke & Ge 2011).

The distribution range of *B. hainesii* overlaps with both of putative parents, *B.* gymnorhiza and B. cylindrica. The putative parental species are known as common taxa in the Indo-West Pacific region (Tomlinson 1986, Kochummen 1989, Sheue et al. 2005). B. gymnorhiza, the putative paternal species, is the most widely distributed mangrove plant, with a longitudinal range covering from East Africa to Micronesia, Polynesia and Samoa, and latitudinal range from subtropical Australia to Ryuku Islands of Southern Japan (Tomlinson 1986, Allen & Duke 2006). While, putative maternal species, B. cylindrica is distributed from India and Sri Lanka throughout South-East Asian countries to northern Queensland in Australia (Faridah Hanum & van der Maesen 1997). Therefore, previously reported distribution range of *B. hainesii*, from Myanmar to Papua New Guinea (Tomlinson 1986), falls within the putative parental species' ranges. In mangrove forests, both putative parental species B. gymnorhiza and B. cylindrica tend to be found in downstream and intermediate zones of mid-intertidal regions (Duke et al. 2010a, b). Moreover, many instances of sympatry of the two species have been recorded (Putz & Chan 1986, White et al. 1989, Imai et al. 2006, Sun & Lo 2011). However, although the parental species sometimes coexist, *B. hainesii* is considered as the rarest mangrove species (Kochummen 1989, Sheue et al. 2005, Polidoro et al. 2010).

The infrequent occurrence of *B. hainesii* may be attributed to the different pollinators serving the two putative parental species. The two morphologically diverse groups of the genus *Bruguiera* use different pollinators along with their flower characters. The group with larger solitary-flowered inflorescences (including *B.* 

gymnorhiza, B. sexangula and B. exaristata) is thought to be bird-pollinated (Tomlinson 1986, Kondo et al. 1987, Kondo et al. 1991, Noske 1993, Wee et al. 2014). On the other hand, the group with smaller and multiple-flowered inflorescences (including B. cylindrica and B. parviflora) is thought to be facilitated by insects (Tomlinson 1986). Hybridization between them may not frequently occur because of the likely premating isolation measure due to the different types of pollinators.

Bruguiera hainesii may be an F1 hybrid affected by postmating isolation. B. hainesii has been reported to have very low rates of propagation and low rates of germination (Polidoro et al. 2010), which may result from outbreeding depression between the two parental species. All individual samples of B. hainesii used in this study were heterozygous at both nuclear loci, which suggest all the samples of B. hainesii were F1 hybrids. It is contrasting with another hybrid species in the genus Bruguiera,  $B. \times$  rhynchopetala, because the hybrid species has fertile seed sets, and can backcrosses with the parental species: B. gymnorhiza or B. sexangula (Sun & Lo 2011). These characteristics can be attributed to less reproductive isolation because both parental species are sister species weakly suggested by cpDNA phylogeny (Fig. 1-4), in the group with larger solitary-flowered inflorescences, and both may use birds as pollinators (Tomlinson 1986, Duke & Ge 2011).

#### Phylogenetic relationships among the genus Bruguiera

This study provided the most comprehensive phylogenetic relationship of genus Bruguiera to date. According to Tomlinson (1986), species of Bruguiera were morphologically divided into two groups as mentioned above. In contrast, molecular data of cpDNA and nuclear ribosomal DNA from Schwarzbach & Ricklefs (2000) suggested that a small, many-flowered species *B. cylindrica* form a monophyletic group with three species belonging to a different morphological group. The resultant haplotype networks of nuclear *Ces*A gene and combined cpDNA haplotypes also supported the monophyly of *B. cylindrica* and the three large, solitary-flowered species (Figs. 1-1a, c and 1-2).

Unfortunately, however, phylogenetic relationship among *B. cylindrica, B. gymnorhiza, B. sexangula* and *B. exaristata* remains uncertain. Morphological similarity between *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* has been well-documented (Tomlinson 1986, Allen & Duke 2006, Duke & Ge 2011). In the cpDNA tree (Fig. 1-2), the sister relationship of *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* were weakly supported: 0.67 for MP bootstrap support and 0.99 for Bayesian posterior probability. As for nuclear CesA gene (Figs. 1-1a and 1-3), *B. gymnorhiza* alleles were highly variable and paraphyletic to the alleles found in *B. cylindrica, B. sexangula* and *B. exaristata*. The non-monophyly of *B. gymnorhiza* alleles could be due to incomplete lineage sorting or interspecific introgressive hybridization (Syring et al. 2007). Therefore, phylogenetic relationships between *B. gymnorhiza* and others cannot be determined by using this locus. The sequences determined for *UNK* gene were relatively short, and species relationship was not resolved due to low phylogenetic information (Figs. 1-1b and 1-4).

#### Conservation implication of Bruguiera hainesii

Because of the putative hybrid status of *B. hainesii* shown in this study, the IUCN red list category CR, given to this species (Duke et al. 2010c) should be re-considered. This study indicated that *B. hainesii* originated through hybridization between *B. cylindrica* and *B. gymnorhiza*, and suggests that it may be a locally formed F1 hybrid. In the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, hybrids will be excluded if they are not apomictic plants (IUCN 2015). Further studies to determine the conservation status of *B. hainesii* are needed.

Apart from the delisting of *B. hainesii* from IUCN Red List, should we protect this putative hybrid from the perspective of mangrove conservation? The issue whether hybrids merit protection in conservation strategies is still controversial (Ellstrand et al. 2010). For example, hybridization with or without introgression may threaten a rare species' existence (Rhymer & Simberloff 1996). On the other hand, it is well understood that hybridization has been of importance for adaptation and speciation, especially in plants (Arnold 1992). As for the case of *B. hainesii* individuals, they may be F1 generation hybrids, so far examined. This type of hybridization would be detrimental because hybridization leads to wasted reproductive effort of parental species (Allendorf et al. 2001). "Fortunately", *B. hainesii* is very "rare", and thus, its detrimental effect would be negligible. It can be recommended that any conservation effort should not be paid to solitary *B. hainesii* individuals if this species is merely a hybrid.

## Tables and Figures

Taxon	Country	Locality	Latitude	Longitude	Sample ID	Ces A	UNK	cpDNA
						haplotypes	haplotypes	haplotypes
Bruguiera hainesii	Malaysia	Merbok	5.6549	100.3719	BhMYS1	03/09	1/6	11
			5.6549	100.3719	BhMYS2	03/09	1/6	11
			5.6549	100.3719	BhMYS3	03/09	1/6	11
		Klang	2.9729	101.3617	BhMYS4	01/09	1/6	11
			2.9128	101.3124	BhMYS5	03/09	1/6	11
		Pulau Kukup	1.3264	103.4331	BhMYS6	01/09	3/6	11
			1.3233	103.4299	BhMYS7	01/09	3/6	11
	Singapore	Sungai Loyang	1.3810	103.9660	BhSGP1	01/09	1/6	12
		Pulau Ubin	1.4182	103.9636	BhSGP2	01/09	1/6	12
B. gymnorhiza	Mozambique	Maputo	-25.8501	32.6957	BgMOZ1	01	1	01
	India	Kerala	9.9860	76.2320	BgIND1	01	1	02
	Myanmar	Byonmwe I.	15.9760	95.2674	BgMMR1	02	1	03
	Malaysia	Merbok	5.6549	100.3719	BgMYS1	01	1	03
			5.6549	100.3719	BgMYS2	03	1	03
		Klang	2.9729	101.3617	BgMYS3	01/03	1	03
			2.9729	101.3617	BgMYS4	01	1	03
		Sabah	5.9389	118.0529	BgMYS5	01	2	01
	Vietnam	Dong Rui	21.2478	107.3905	BgVNM1	01	3	01
	Philippines	Panay I.	11.8126	122.1418	BgPHL1	01	3	04
	Japan	Iriomote I.	24.3134	123.9064	BgJPN1	01	3	01
		Ishigaki I.	24.4005	124.1454	BgJPN2	01	3	05
	Australia	Cairns	-29.4437	153.2087	BgAUS1	04	1	01
	Fiji	Viti Levu I.	-18.1560	178.4459	BgFJI1	04	1/4	06
B. sexangula	Myanmar	Byonmwe I.	15.9760	95.2674	BsMMR1	05	2	07
	Malaysia	Sabah	5.8536	116.0423	BsMYS1	06	2	08
	Vietnam	Ca Mau	8.6138	104.7322	BsVNM1	06	2	09
B. exaristata	Australia	Northern Territory	-12.4084	130.8324	BeAUS1	07	5	10
		Queensland	-16.2791	145.4394	BeAUS2	08	5	10
B. cylindrica	India	Mumbai	19.3301	72.8147	BcIND1	09	6	11
			19.3301	72.8147	BcIND2	09	6	11
	Malaysia	Klang	2.9128	101.3124	BcMYS1	09	6	11
	Singapore	Sungai Loyang	1.3810	103.9660	BcSGP1	09	6/7	12
	Philippines	Luzon I.	13.9700	120.6259	BcPHL1	09	6	11
			13.9700	120.6259	BcPHL2	09	6	11
B. parviflora	Vietnam	Ca Mau	8.6138	104.7322	BpVNM1	10	8	13
Rhizophora stylosa	Japan	Iriomote I.	24.3946	123.8222	RsJPN1	11	9	14

Table 1-1 List of s	necies sampling	y localities sample	e IDs and hanlotynes
10010 1 1. L100 01 5	pecies, sampling	5 iocampico, bampi	c ibs and napiotypes.



Fig. 1-1. Haplotype networks. (a) Nuclear DNA *CesA* gene. (b) Nuclear DNA *UNK* gene. (c) Combined regions of chloroplast DNA *trnL*-*trn*F, *trn*S-*trn*G and *atp*B-*rbc*L intergenic spacers (IGSs). Each species is shown as distinct color and pattern, *Bruguiera hainesii*: green with grid lines, *B. gymnorhiza*: orange with horizontal lines, *B. sexangula*: deep blue with vertical lines, *B. exaristata*: light blue with diagonal lines, *B. cylindrica*: yellow with polka-dots, *B. parviflora*: purple with square dots, *Rhizophora stylosa*: brown. The size of circles is relative to the haplotype frequency. Haplotypes segregated by a single line are one mutation apart and black dots are missing haplotypes (ancestral or un-sampled haplotypes).



Fig. 1-2. A Bayesian phylogenetic tree of combined chloroplast regions of chloroplast DNA *trnL-trnF*, *trnS-trn*G and *atpB-rbc*L IGSs. Maximum parsimony bootstrap supports were shown above and Bayesian posterior probabilities were below. Sample IDs are as in Table 1-1.



#### 0.01

Fig. 1-3. A Bayesian phylogenetic tree of nuclear DNA *Ces*A gene. Maximum parsimony bootstrap supports were shown above and Bayesian posterior probabilities were below. Sample IDs are as in Table 1-1.



Fig. 1-4. A Bayesian phylogenetic tree of nuclear DNA *UNK* gene. Maximum parsimony bootstrap supports were shown above and Bayesian posterior probabilities were below. Sample IDs are as in Table 1.

# CHAPTER 2: GLOBAL GENETIC STRUCTURE OF BRUGUIERA

#### Introduction

Conservation Units (CUs), which are population units identified within species, are essential to help guide management and conservation effort to protect certain populations within species. CUs are populations that are considered as distinct units to be conserved, including Evolutionarily Significant Units (ESUs) and Management Units (MUs). An ESU in conservation genetics is a genetically differentiated unit composed of populations that warrant management as a separate unit (Frankham et al. 2010). Although several different definitions of ESU have been proposed (Ryder 1986, Waples 1991, Dizon et al. 1992, Moritz 1994, Avise 1994, Vogler & Desalle 1994, Crandall et al. 2000, Fraser & Bernatchez 2001), the major definition of ESU is based on its genetic and ecological distinctiveness (Funk et al. 2012). Identification and maintenance of ESUs are important because conservation of ESUs can maximize the potential to adapt to environmental changes (Funk et al. 2012). On the other hand, an MU is a unit defined as populations that are demographically independent and characterized as the significant divergence of alleles (Moritz 1994, Palsbøll et al. 2007). MUs are mostly smaller than ESUs and, therefore, several MUs may be within an ESU (Hanski & Gilpin 1997). Identifying CUs, regarding ESUs and MUs, is an important first step for conservation because understanding the boundary of the target population units is necessary for managements and for making conservation policies (Funk et al. 2012).

Studying the genetic structure of a species is essential to identify CUs. Neutral loci are suitable to estimate the levels of gene flow among populations and, therefore, can detect demographically isolated population units as MUs (Moritz 1994) or genetically differentiated units as ESUs (Frankham et al. 2010). Although recent studies focused more on adaptive differences for the recognition of ESUs, both neutral and adaptive loci should be still used for delineating CUs (Funk et al. 2012). Neutral loci solely also give important implication for adaptation because gene flow does not restrict adaptive divergence if migration is low (Slatkin 1985).

For mangroves, CUs have been recognized extensively as genetically differentiated populations in the AEP region. Clear genetic structures across the American Continents, which was discussed regarding genetic barrier formed by the closure of the Panama Isthmus, have been found in *Rhizophora* mangle, *R. racemosa* (Takayama et al. 2013) and *Avicennia germinans* (Nettel & Dodd 2007). In Brazil, genetic discontinuity has also been known between northern and southern populations of *R. mangle* (Pil et al. 2011), *A. germinans* and *A. schaueriana* (Mori et al. 2015b) which may be caused by the South Equatorial Current that acted as a genetic barrier. In these studies, *R. mangle* and *A. germinans* were surveyed as model species to discuss CUs of mangroves in the AEP and wide range sampling was performed, because both of them are widely distributed species across the AEP (Tomlinson 1986).

Although there are higher species diversity of mangrove plants in the IWP than the AEP region (Tomlinson 1986, Polidoro et al. 2010), studies on genetic structures for widely distributed mangrove species using broad sampling scheme were still limited. In a similar fashion to the Panama Isthmus in the AEP region, the Malay Peninsula has been recognized as a significant land barrier to several mangrove species in the IWP

region. Some studies on the species distributed across the peninsula have been conducted, e. g. *Ceriops tagal* (Liao et al. 2007), *Rhizophora apiculata* (Inomata et al. 2009, Ng et al. 2015), *C. zippeliana* and *C. decandra* (Sheue et al. 2009), *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* (Minobe et al. 2010, Urashi et al. 2013), and *R. mucronata* (Wee et al. 2015). In contrast to these studies, Wee et al. (2015) revealed the genetic structure of a widespread mangrove species within an oceanic region. They suggested that the populations of *R. stylosa* were genetically divided into two clusters, South and East China Sea, and the Southwest Pacific Ocean. Similarly, populations of *Lumnitzera racemosa* showed deep splits among the East Indian Ocean, the South China Sea, and the North Australia (Su et al. 2006). These results indicate that there are genetic discontinuities other than the Malay Peninsula in the IWP.

To understand the genetic structure of the widespread mangrove species in the IWP region as a whole, comprehensive sampling scheme is essential to detect genetic cohesion of the species that distributes across the IWP with broad sampling scheme. *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* (L.) Lam. is a suitable model species to understand the genetic diversity of widespread mangrove species in the IWP region. *B. gymnorhiza* has the broadest distribution range among all mangrove species in the IWP. The distribution range is from East Africa to Micronesia and Polynesia (Samoa) longitudinally and from subtropical Australia to Ryuku Islands of Southern Japan latitudinally. Viviparous seedling, so called propagule, of this species that has a cylindrically elongated hypocotyl, is buoyant (Tomplinson 1986, Allen & Duke 2006), and hence, can be dispersed in the ocean.

Previous phylogeographic analysis on *B. gymnorhiza* revealed distinct genetic structure over the Malay Peninsula (Minobe et al. 2010, Urashi et al. 2013). In Minobe

et al. (2010) using a limited number of population samples from both sides of the Malay Peninsula reported clear genetic differentiation across the peninsula using cpDNA and nucDNA markers. A recent study also confirmed higher levels of genetic differentiation among populations across the peninsular using numbers of nuclear loci (Urashi et al. 2013). Contrary to other sea-dispersal species such as *Hibiscus tiliaceus* (Takayama et al. 2006, Takayama et al. 2008) and *Ipomoea pes-caprae* (Miryeganeh et al. 2014), these results indicated restricted gene flow across the Malay Peninsula. No clear suggestion of genetic structure within oceanic regions has been suggested to date for *B. gymnorhiza* because of fewer population samples across the whole distribution range of the species.

In this chapter, the author studied the genetic structure of *B. gymnorhiza* to detect genetic cohesion and discontinuities and to determine CUs within the wide distribution range. The author conducted detail sampling covering entire the distribution range and genetic analysis by using eight nuclear microsatellite markers and chloroplast  $trn L \cdot trn F$  and  $trn S \cdot trn G$  IGS regions. Another species, *Bruguiera sexangula* (Lour.) Pour., was also included in the study. The species is morphologically similar to *B. gymnorhiza*, and these two species may produce a hybrid species *Bruguiera* × *rhynchopetala* (Ko) X. J. Ge et N. C. Duke (Ge 2001). Performing analyses including the two species, we confirmed that hybridization and the following introgression may not have caused complicated genetic structure in *B. gymnorhiza*.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Plant materials

I collected leaf samples from 1020 individuals of *B. gymnorhiza* from 40 populations across the IWP; 20 populations in the Indian Ocean and 20 populations in the Pacific Ocean (Table 2-1). *B. sexangula* samples were collected from 119 individuals in six populations; two in the Indian Ocean and four from the Pacific Ocean. Inflorescence characters used in previous publications were applied for species identification (Tomlinson 1986, Sheue et al. 2005). When either *B. gymnorhiza* or *B. sexangula* was the only species existing in populations, several DNA vouchers without inflorescences were collected. At sites where the two species were present, only DNA vouchers with inflorescences were collected. Except for two populations in Philippines, 33 samples which had intermediate inflorescence characters between the two species or did not have inflorescence were treated as *B.* sp. Collected leaf samples were put in Ziploc plastic bags and dried with silica gel.

#### DNA extraction

Total DNA was extracted from dried leaf material using CTAB extraction method (Doyle & Doyle 1987). Further purification was conducted on some specimens by using a GENECLEAN III Kit (MP Biomedicals).

#### Microsatellite analyses

Eight microsatellite markers developed by Takayama et al. (2011) were chosen for analyses based upon the polymorphism level. Primers for these loci were multiplexed by grouping them into sets of three: (a) BG118, BG147, BG165; (b) BG129, BG162; (c) BG114, BG140, BG146. PCR amplifications were conducted by using the Qiagen Multiplex PCR Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol with the annealing temperature at 57 °C in a final volume of 4  $\mu$ L. The amplified DNA samples and GeneScan 600 LIZ size standards (Applied Biosystems) were electrophoresed using ABI 3500 automated sequencer (Applied Biosystems), ABI 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) and ABI 3730xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) using standard settings. The program GENEMAPPER 4.1 (Applied Biosystems) was used to assign fragment length.

#### Chloroplast DNA amplification and sequencing

PCR amplifications were conducted for representative samples from each population using universal cpDNA primer pairs trnL-trnF IGS (Taberlet et al. 1991) and the trnS-trnG IGS (Hamilton 1999) with TaKaRa Ex Taq polymerase (TaKaRa Bio Inc.). A partial sequence of trnS-trnG IGS was used for all samples from 27\_Philippines (*B.* gymnorhiza), 46\_Philippines (*B. sexangula*), 47\_Philippines (*B.* sp) and 48\_Philippines (*B.* sp) to confirm the species identity validation and check out the intermediate characteristics of *B.* sp since trnS-trnG IGS region contains a mutation site which can identify *B. gymnorhiza* from *B. sexangula* (Zhou et al. 2008). Total reaction volume was 10 µL of which total DNA was 0.5 µL (10-100 ng). The protocol was as follows: an initial denaturation step (95 °C for 1 min) followed by 30-35 cycles of denaturation, annealing, and elongation steps (95 °C for 45 sec, 58 °C for 45 sec, and 72 °C for 1 min) and a final elongation step (72 °C for 10 min). The PCR products were purified with Exo-Star kit (GE-Healthcare) and electrophoresed using ABI 3500 automated sequencer (Applied Biosystems), ABI 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) and ABI 3730xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) using standard settings.

#### Data analyses

For nuclear microsatellite analysis, linkage disequilibrium of all pairs of microsatellite loci in each population was analyzed with 26320 permutations in FSTAT 2.9.3.2 (Goudet 2001). The software was also used to estimate allelic richness, expected heterozygosity ( $H_E$ ), observed heterozygosity ( $H_O$ ) and the inbreeding coefficient ( $F_{IS}$ ) with significant departure from zero at P < 0.05. Null allele frequencies of each locus and population were estimated with FREENA (Chapuis & Estoup 2007), using the expectation maximization algorithm of Dempster et al. (1977).

To infer the genetic clusters of populations, I implemented the Bayesian clustering method, STRUCTURE ver. 2.3.3 (Pritchard et al. 2000). I tested cluster numbers (K) from one to 10. To confirm the convergence of Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) chains, 20 independent runs were performed for each number of clusters under admixture model. 100,000 MCMC interactions were performed after burn-in period of 200,000 interactions for each run. I applied  $\Delta$ K proposed by Evanno et al. (2005) to estimate the most probable number of clusters implemented in STRUCTURE HARVESTER (Earl & von Holdt 2012). I applied four sample sets for this analysis; (a) using all individuals of both *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* to confirm species identity validation, (b) using populations of 1\_South Africa–6\_France (*B. gymnorhiza*), 41\_Myanmar–46\_Philippines (*B. sexangula*), and 47\_Philippines–48\_Philippines (*B. sp*) to test the species identities following the results of above sample set, (c) using populations of 27\_Philippines (*B. gymnorhiza*), 46\_Philippines (*B. sexangula*), 47\_Philippines (*B. sp*), 48\_Philippines (*B. sp*), 26\_Malaysia (*B. gymnorhiza*) and 45\_Malaysia (B. sexangula) to detect intermediate status of B. sp, in which 26\_Malaysia is a typical population of *B. gymnorhiza* near populations where *B*. sp were taken and 45\_Malaysia for *B. sexangula*, (d) using all individuals of *B. gymnorhiza* to clarify the genetic structure of the species. A neighbor-joining (NJ) tree was generated to estimate the genetic relationships among populations based on the genetic distance  $D_A$  (Nei et al. 1983) using the program Populations 1.2.30 (Langella 1999). Populations which containing individuals were less than 10 were excluded from this analysis (Takayama *et* al. 2013). I estimated the significance of the best topology with 1000 bootstrap replicates. The pattern of individual-based genetic differentiation was visualized via the Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA). The PCoA was performed using the Microsoft Excel macro program GenAlEx (Peakall & Smouse 2006) based on the mean genotypic distance between all individual pairs of both species. F statistics of the pair wise heta (Weir & Cockerham 1984) between populations was estimated using the program FSTAT 2.9.3.2 (Goudet 2001). To confirm the significance of the correlation between pair wise  $\theta'(1 \cdot \theta)$ estimates and log-transformed geographic distances between paired populations (Rousset 1997), a Mantel test (Mantel 1967) was performed with 9999 random permutations using GenAlEx (Peakall & Smouse 2006).

The cpDNA sequences were aligned and manually corrected using MEGA6 (Tamura et al. 2013). Gaps or indels were treated as fifth state mutations. Length polymorphisms in mononucleotide polyT repeat units found in *trn*L*-trn*F IGS were assigned numbers and treated as mutations. To visualize the relationships among haplotypes, a statistical parsimony network was constructed using TCS v1.21 (Clement et al. 2000).
## Results

### Microsatellite analyses

The genetic diversity parameters for eight microsatellite loci calculated for each species and each population are shown in Table 2-2. The highest allelic richness value (3.29) was shown in 48\_Philippines in *B. sexangula*. In *B. gymnorhiza*, allelic richness value was high in 37\_Australia (3.06), 16\_Malaysia (2.92), and 20\_Indonesia (2.92). Test of linkage disequilibrium showed no significant association between locus pairs (P < 0.05). The presence of null alleles (defined as null allele frequency > 0.10) was detected at one to five loci in several populations (Table 2-3).

The highest  $\Delta K$  value was returned at K = 2 by the analysis using all populations of both *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* implemented by STRUCTURE (Fig. 2-1a). Two species were divided into different clusters except for African populations of *B. gymnorhiza*, 1\_South Africa, 2\_Mozambique, and 3\_Mozambique showed the same character as *B. sexangula* and 4\_Tanzania, 5\_France, and 6\_France showed admixed clusters of both species (Fig. 2-2). The second highest  $\Delta K$  value was returned at K = 5(Fig. 2-1a), in which two species were almost completely divided into different clusters (Fig. 2-2). In *B. gymnorhiza*, component clusters were different not only over the Malay Peninsula but also within each side of the peninsula, in which populations were separated into the Indian Ocean (Africa) (1\_South Africa–6\_France), the Indian Ocean (Asia) (7\_India–20\_Indonesia), the North Pacific Ocean (21\_Malaysia–36\_Japan), and the South Pacific Ocean (37\_Australia–40\_Samoa). All results at K > 2 showed that *B. sexangula* had different character(s) from *B. gymnorhiza*. Most individuals of *B.* sp showed the same character as *B. sexangula*, however, a few samples showed admixed characters among clusters at K = 2 to 10. Cluster number K = 2 was strongly indicated by  $\Delta K$  values using populations of African *B. gymnorhiza* (1\_South Africa-6\_France), *B. sexangula* (41\_Myanmar-46\_Philippines), and *B.* sp (47\_Philippines-48\_Philippines) (Fig. 2-1b), in which *B. gymnorhiza* populations were almost completely divided into a different cluster from *B. sexangula* and *B.* sp (Fig. 2-3). Only one sample of *B.* sp showed the same characters as *B. gymnorhiza*. In a similar fashion to the results using all populations in Fig. 2-2, a few samples showed admixed characters of both species.

Cluster number K = 2 was strongly indicated by  $\Delta K$  values using populations of 26\_Malaysia, 27\_Philippines, 45\_Malaysia, 46\_Philippines, 47\_Philippines and 48\_Philippines to investigate intermediate status of *B*. sp (Fig. 2-1c), in which *B*. gymnorhiza populations (26\_Malaysia and 27\_Philippines) and *B*. sexangula populations (45\_Malaysia and 46\_Philippines) were almost completely divided into different clusters (Fig. 2-4). Most individuals of *B*. sp (47\_Philippines and 48\_Philippines) showed the same characters as *B*. sexangula in both STRUCTURE analysis and cpDNA sequences. Only one sample of *B*. sp showed the same characters as *B*. gymnorhiza in both results. Two individuals of *B*. sp showed admixed characters between the two species, in which more than 80 percent of the cluster was occupied by the character of *B*. gymnorhiza in STRUCTURE analysis and cpDNA sequence showed the character of *B*. gymnorhiza in 27\_Philippines and cpDNA sequence showed the character of *B*. gymnorhiza in 27\_Philippines and cpDNA sequence showed the character of *B*. gymnorhiza in 27\_Philippines and cpDNA sequence showed the character of *B*. gymnorhiza in 27\_Philippines and cpDNA sequence showed the character of *B*. gymnorhiza in 27\_Philippines and other *B*. sp samples as *B*. sexangula, therefore I combined 46\_Philippines with 47\_Philippines.

The highest  $\Delta K$  value was returned at K = 4 using only *B. gymnorhiza* populations; 1\_South Africa-40\_Samoa (Fig. 2-1d), in which geographic pattern similar to the result using both *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* at K = 5 written above was obtained (Fig. 2-5). All results at K > 4 had the same genetic discontinuities as shown at K = 4.

The NJ tree result showed that *B. sexangula* populations composed one different cluster from *B. gymnorhiza* populations (Fig. 2-6). *B. gymnorhiza* populations composed distinct clusters along with geographical cohesion, in which *B. gymnorhiza* populations were divided into four clusters; the Indian Ocean (Africa) (2\_Mozambique – 6\_France), the Indian Ocean (Asia) (7\_India – 20\_Indonesia), the North Pacific Ocean (21\_Malaysia – 36\_ Japan) and the South Pacific Ocean (37\_Australia – 40\_Samoa).

The PCoA result described a clear genetic differentiation between *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula*, except for two samples of *B. sexangula* in Philippines which showed admixed characters of both species in STRUCTURE analyses written above (Fig. 2-7).

Results of Mantel test significantly supported positive correlation between genetic distance and geographic distance among populations within both the Indian Ocean and the Pacific Ocean (Fig. 2-8a). I divided *B. gymnorhiza* populations into four geographic groups according to the STRUCTURE result and conducted Mantel test again. Positive correlation between genetic and geographic distance was significantly supported in three groups (the Indian Ocean (Asia), the North Pacific and the South Pacific), significance was not supported only in the Indian Ocean (Africa) but positive straight line was shown on the graph (Fig. 2-8b).

### Chloroplast DNA analyses

12 haplotypes were produced from two cpDNA regions including indel information of *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* across the broad IWP range. The haplotype network was shown in Fig. 2-9. No haplotypes were shared between the two species. The geographical distribution and composition of haplotypes of *B. gymnorhiza* was plotted in Fig. 2-10 and of *B. sexangula* was in Fig. 2-11. In *B. gymnorhiza*, haplotype 1 - 3 were found within the Indian Ocean. Haplotype 6 - 9 were found within the Pacific Ocean. Haplotype 4 and 5 were found mostly within the Pacific Ocean and some were among border parts of two oceanic regions. In all African populations (1\_South Africa – 6\_France), observed haplotype was only haplotype 1. In populations in the South Pacific Ocean (38\_New Caledonia – 40\_Samoa), only haplotype 9 was observed and it was not found in other populations. In similar fashions, only haplotype 2 was found in 7\_India, haplotype 7 was found in 27\_Philippines, haplotype 8 was found in 31\_Australia and these haplotypes were not found in other populations.

### Discussion

### Population genetic structure of B. gymnorhiza

Clear genetic structures of *B. gymnorhiza* were observed not only across the Malay Peninsula but also within each of the Indian and the Pacific Oceans. The STRUCTURE result of *B. gymnorhiza* based on nuclear SSR markers suggested the genetic discontinuities, in which four geographic groups were recognized; the Indian Ocean (Africa), the Indian Ocean (Asia), the North Pacific Ocean and the South Pacific Ocean (K = 4, Fig. 2-5). Since the clustering patterns were geographically congruent with the distribution of cpDNA haplotypes (Fig. 2-10), the existence of genetic structure within each the Indian Ocean and the Pacific Ocean was supported.

Genetic discontinuity of *B. gymnorhiza* across the Malay Peninsula is concordant with previous findings (Minobe et al. 2010, Urashi et al. 2013). In the Last Glacial Maximum (LGM), sea-level was 100 - 120m below present and the Malay Peninsula, Sumatra, Java, and Borneo was connected as a single land mass (Voris 2000), separating the Indian and the Pacific Oceans. The vicariance may have resulted in different genotypes between both coasts of the Malay Peninsula (Triest 2008). The observation of two genetic clusters across the Malay Peninsula indicates that it is an effective barrier to propagule dispersal of *B. gymnorhiza*, and the effects of the previous vicariance were still detectable in the present day.

Admixed DNA components from east and west of the Malay Peninsula were found in several populations. Admixtures of clusters in STRUCTURE were detected in 16\_Malaysia, 17\_Singapore, and 20\_Indonesia (Fig. 2-5). Results of cpDNA analysis showed a similar pattern in four populations; 14\_Malaysia, 17 Singapore, 19\_Indonesia, and 20\_Indonesia had haplotypes from east and west of the peninsula (Fig. 2-10). These populations face both the Pacific and the Indian Ocean. Therefore, gene flow among populations on both sides of the Malay Peninsula can happen. The results of this study showed that even though the Malay Peninsula has been an effective barrier from the past to present, gene flow might currently have occurred among boundary populations between two oceanic regions.

Within each the Pacific and the Indian Ocean, cause for restricted propagule dispersal may differ across oceanic regions. In the Pacific Ocean, the Sahul Shelf, located between New Guinea and Australia, may be a land barrier to propagule dispersal of *B. gymnorhiza* during the LGM (Voris 2000). Similarly, genetic discontinuities resulting from this land barrier were also found in various marine animals, including barramundi (Latescalcarifer; Chenoweth et al. 1998), green turtle (Cheloniamydas; Dethmers et al. 2006) and invertebrates (Benzie 1999). Although most of the Sahul Shelf is submerged at present, ocean current might have acted as barriers to gene flow for *B. gymnorhiza*. Analysis of ocean circulation (Stammer et al. 2002) showed that an upper part of ocean current (at 27.5m depth) goes from Southeast Asia to the west of Australian continent. Therefore, the current does not flow into the South Pacific Ocean. Also, around Australia-New Guinea, ocean currents flow westward across the Torres Strait and are either interrupted by other current from Southeast Asia to northwestern Australia or flow eastward via northern New Guinea. Therefore, these currents do not flow into the Southeast Asia. Such ocean currents may inhibit dispersal of *B. gymnorhiza* and contribute the present-day genetic discontinuity.

On the other hand, within the Indian Ocean, the genetic structure between Africa and Asia, without an apparent land barrier was revealed. One explanation could simply be the vastness of the Indian Ocean, which acts as a barrier to dispersal in *B*. gymnorhiza. Long-distance propagule dispersal of *B. gymnorhiza* might not occur between populations at both longitudinal ends of the Indian Ocean. In this study, cpDNA result showed only one haplotype in Africa. On the other hand, many haplotypes including African one were found in the west side of Sunda Islands. Given two regions have a source-sink relationship, ancestors of African population may have emigrated from Southeast Asian populations, via major ocean currents from western Java Island to the African continent (Stammer et al. 2002). The source-sink relationship between Asia and African were also used to explain the higher species richness of mangrove species in Southeast Asia as compared to Africa (Tomlinson 1986).

Geohistory may also play a role in shaping the observed genetic discontinuity. During the LGM, temperature around equatorial zone in the Indian Ocean was suspected to be higher than 23 degrees Celsius even in the coolest month (Barrows & Juggins 2005). Therefore mangroves could survive around this region. In the LGM, more and larger islands were present across the Indian Ocean (Peltier 1994). There may have been a chain of islands between Seychelles, Mascarenes and India, highly reducing the distance of the open ocean (Warren et al. 2010). Thus, *B. gymnorhiza* might have dispersed via a stepping-stone manner through these islands. In the present, gene flow across this region could have become more difficult for *B. gymnorhiza* because of more distant land connections.

The results of this study indicate that long-distance dispersal of *B. gymnorhiza* does not frequently occur among populations. Tests of isolation by distance showed a positive correlation, although only one result was not significant (Fig. 2-8). Arnaud-Haond et al. (2006) also reported a correlation between geographic and genetic distances in *Avicennia marina* from China, Malaysia, and Australia, though they attributed the significant relationship to perforated sampling scheme. Since this study has a more comprehensive sampling scheme, the correlation between geographic distance and genetic distance of *B. gymnorhiza* are unlikely to be affected by this confounding factor. Previously seedling dispersal of *B. gymnorhiza* had been suspected to occur over a broad range within an ocean (Minobe et al. 2010). However, the results of the present study suggest that distance limits propagule dispersal, and that geologic history, ocean currents, and adaptation may lead to a strong genetic structure in *B. gymnorhiza*.

#### Genetic distinctiveness of B. gymnorhiza and B. sexangula

This study indicated that *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* are distinct two different species. Both nuclear SSR and cpDNA results showed clear genetic differentiation between the two species (Figs. 2-2, 2-3 and 2-4). In STRUCTURE analysis, the result at the highest  $\Delta K$  did not show clear genetic differentiation between *B. sexangula* and several populations of *B. gymnorhiza* (Fig. 2-2). This result may be caused because STRUCTURE is very sensitive to the number of sampled individuals and partial sampling of individuals leads to a lower  $\Delta K$  at the true K as Evanno et al. (2005) explained. Relatively small number of *B. sexangula* samples used in this study could have led to failure in detecting its specific signal. The PCoA result obviously supported the distinctiveness of each species (Fig. 2-7). In cpDNA analysis, the two species had no shared haplotype (Figs. 2-9, 2-10 and 2-11).

This study also provided a clear evidence of hybridization between *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula*. *B.* × *rhynchopetala*. Two individuals from 48\_Philippines had admixed structure in STRUCTURE analyses (Figs. 2-2, 2-3 and 2-4), which suggest hybrid formation. The hybrid between *B. gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* is taxonomically

recognized as  $B. \times rhynchopetala$  (Ge 2001) and has been reported in China, Indonesia and Australia (Zhou et al. 2008, Sun & Lo 2011). This result may be the first report from the Philippines. Both putative hybrid individuals found in this study shared the same cpDNA haplotype as B. sexangula individuals. However, the inferred ancestry of their nuclear genotype was largely (> 80 percent) similar to B. gymnorhiza. This result indicates that the putative hybrid individuals may result from introgression events over several generations. Sun & Lo (2011) suggested that  $B. \times rhynchopetala$  occurs only within the parental habitat. Since the distribution range of B. sexangula overlaps with B. gymnorhiza from India to Australia longitudinally (Duke & Ge 2011), hybridization and introgression between the two species can happen in the overlapped areas. Although, F1 and F2 hybrids were reported from Hainan Island, North Sulawesi and northeastern Australia (Sun & Lo 2011), my results showed that the two species were genetically almost completely differentiated within the range. Thus, the hybridization event of  $B. \times rhynchopetala$  might not have affected the general genetic structure of B.gymnorhiza.

## Recognition of CUs in Bruguiera gymnorhiza

Genetically discrete population units of *B. gymnorhiza* found in this study can be treated as individual CUs. This study suggested populations of *B. gymnorhiza* were divided into four units, the Indian Ocean (Africa), the Indian Ocean (Asia), the North Pacific Ocean, and the South Pacific Ocean. According to Moritz (1994), populations with significant divergence in allelic frequency are recognized as MUs even though the populations are not reciprocally monophyletic. Although only a few populations shared chloroplast haplotypes and/or clusters in STRUCTURE analyses across regions, most populations in a region obviously retained their distinctiveness (Fig. 2-5). Thus, the author recommends that genetically and geographically discrete four population units of *B. gymnorhiza* should be recognized as individual CUs such as MUs, and should be managed and conserved separately.

Because these units have possibly adapted to local environments, adaptive differentiation should be tested via further analyses using nuclear coding loci. Detecting adaptive differences among CUs is important according to two reasons. Firstly, the most adaptively differentiated populations should have the highest priority to be protected (de Guia & Saitoh 2007). Secondly, knowledge of the patterns of adaptive differentiation is helpful to avoid translocation between populations adapted to different environments that cause outbreeding depression (Moritz 1999). Thus, understanding of adaptive differences can contribute to future success in conservation activity.

## **Tables and Figures**

Table 2-1. List of samples of *Bruguiera* species used in this study.  $N_N$  and  $N_C$  are population sizes used for chloroplast analysis and microsatellite analysis, respectively.

Taxon	Region	Locality	Population	NN	Nc
B. gymnorhiza	Indian Ocean	South Africa: Kuazulu-Natal	1_South Africa	8	5
		Mozambique: Maputo	2_Mozambique	39	5
		Mozambique: Zalala Beach	3_Mozambique	18	5
		Tanzania: Bagamoyo	4 Tanzania	20	5
		France: Europa I.	5_France	21	5
		France: Mayotte I.	6 France	30	5
		India: Kerala	7 India	11	5
		Myanmar: Byonmwe I.	8 Myanmar	18	5
		Myanmar: Myeik	9 Myanmar	32	5
		Thailand: Krabi	10 Thailand	33	
		Thailand: Kantang	11 Thailand	24	5
		Thailand: Palian	12 Thailand	24	
		Malavsia: Sungai Merbok	13 Malavsia	30	
		Malavsia: Klang	14 Malaysia	20	5
		Malaysia: Linggi	15 Malaysia	30	-
		Malaysia: Benut	16 Malaysia	22	5
		Singapore: Sungei Buloh	17 Singapore	36	5
		Indonesia: Banda Aceh	18 Indonesia	34	5
		Indonesia: Cilacap	19 Indonesia	29	5
		Indonesia: Bali I.	20 Indonesia	30	5
	Pacific Ocean	Malaysia: Rompin	21 Malaysia	18	5
		Malaysia: Tanjung Lumpur	22 Malaysia	38	•
		Malaysia: Paka	23 Malaysia	16	5
		Thailand: Trat	24 Thailand	28	5
		Vietnam: Ca Mau	25 Vietnam	31	5
		Malavsia: Sabah	26 Malaysia	36	5
		Philippines: Fish pond. Panav I.	27 Philippines	3	3
		Palau: Ngaremlengui	28 Palau	23	-
		Palau: Airai	29 Palau	32	5
		Japan: Mairabashi Iriomote I	30 Janan	29	5
		Japan: Urauchibashi Iriomote I	31 Japan	28	0
		Japan: Nagura Amparu, Ishigaki I	32 Japan	24	5
		Japan: Fukidogawa Isbigaki I	33 Japan	24	Ű
		Japan: Miyaragawa, Ishigaki I	34 Japan	28	
		Japan: Kin Okinawa I	35 Janan	29	5
		Japan: Gesashi, Okinawa I	36 Japan	28	•
		Australia: Cairos	37 Australia	28	5
		New Caledonia: Canala	38 New Caledonia	29	5
		Fiii: Viti Levu I	39 Fiii	21	5
		Samoa: Saananu	40 Samoa	18	5
B. sexangula	Indian Ocean	Myanmar: Byonmwe I	41 Myanmar	24	5
		Myanmar: Myeik	42 Myanmar	26	5
	Pacific Ocean	Malavsia: Paka	43 Malaysia	28	5
		Vietnam: Ca Mau	44 Vietnam	20	5
		Malaysia: Sabab	45 Malaysia	29	5
		Philippines: Ibajay Mangrove Foo-Dark Donay I	46 Philippines	20	5
R sp	Pacific Ocean	Philippines, Ibajay Mangrove Eco-Park, Panay I.	47 Philippines	14	5
<i>ы.</i> эр	radino odean	Philippines. Eich pond Papav I	48 Philippines	10	5 6
Total		Thispires. This porte, Farlay I.		1172	184

Table 2-2. Descriptive statistics of genetic diversity over all loci for each population of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* obtained by microsatellite analysis. Allelic richness, allelic richness standardized for 11 individuals;  $H_{\rm E}$ , the expected proportion of heterozygotes;  $H_0$ , the observed proportion of heterozygotes;  $F_{\rm IS}$ , inbreeding coefficient, with asterisks indicating significant departure from zero at P < 0.05.

Taxon	Population	Allelic richness	HE	Ho	Fis
B. gymnorhiza	1_South Africa	-	0.106	0.078	0.263
	2_Mozambique	1.42	0.050	0.026	0.480 *
	3_Mozambique	1.86	0.148	0.097	0.342
	4_Tanzania	2.44	0.283	0.156	0.448 *
	5_France	1.86	0.307	0.351	-0.146
	6_France	2.07	0.217	0.167	0.231
	7_India	1.25	0.066	0.011	0.828
	8_Myanmar	2.38	0.242	0.222	0.080
	9_Myanmar	2.76	0.327	0.273	0.164
	10_Thailand	1.63	0.150	0.155	-0.037
	11_Thailand	2.49	0.315	0.208	0.340 *
	12_Thailand	2.15	0.276	0.182	0.339 *
	13_Malaysia	2.70	0.332	0.217	0.348 *
	14_Malaysia	2.53	0.325	0.256	0.212
	15_Malaysia	2.38	0.244	0.221	0.095
	16_Malaysia	2.92	0.414	0.347	0.162
	17_Singapore	2.56	0.423	0.326	0.229 *
	18 Indonesia	2.40	0.359	0.198	0.447
	19_Indonesia	2.38	0.252	0.237	0.060
	20 Indonesia	2.92	0.467	0.304	0.348 *
	21_Malaysia	2.56	0.339	0.271	0.202
	22 Malaysia	2.28	0.286	0.201	0.298 *
	23 Malaysia	1.83	0.244	0.187	0.232
	24_Thailand	2.32	0.197	0.129	0.341 *
	25 Vietnam	1.12	0.012	0.012	-0.011
	26_Malaysia	2.30	0.292	0.295	-0.011
	27 Philippines	-	0.146	0.094	0.357
	28_Palau	2.25	0.363	0.272	0.252
	29_Palau	2.09	0.310	0.246	0.205
	30_Japan	1.97	0.148	0.125	0.156
	31_Japan	1.73	0.182	0.152	0.165
	32_Japan	1.82	0.192	0.135	0.294
	33_Japan	1.58	0.200	0.125	0.374
	34 Japan	1.92	0.243	0.147	0.394 *
	35_Japan	1.69	0.205	0.147	0.284
	36 Japan	1.80	0.205	0.121	0.413 *
	37 Australia	3.06	0.299	0.196	0.343 *
	38 New Caledonia	2.25	0.373	0.198	0.469 *
	39 Fiji	1.98	0.159	0.083	0.476 *
	40 Samoa	1.74	0.170	0.090	0.469 *
B. sexangula	41 Mvanmar	2.54	0.293	0.198	0.325 *
	42 Myanmar	2.18	0.265	0.168	0.366 *
	43 Malavsia	2.46	0.223	0.116	0.480 *
	44 Vietnam	-	0.220	0.179	0.189
	45 Malaysia	1.98	0.228	0.194	0.149
	46, 47 Philippines	2.35	0.329	0.171	0.480 *
	48_Philippines	3.29	0.487	0.278	0.430 *

Table 2-3. Null allele frequency estimated by FREENA for each population-locus comparison.

Taxon         Population         N         Locus 1         Locus 5         Locus 5         Locus 5         Locus 6         Locus 7         Lo	T	Population	N	Estimate of null allele frequency							
B: gymnorhiza         1.South Africa 2.Mozambique         8         0.001         0.016         0.001	raxon			Locus 1	Locus 2	Locus 3	Locus 4	Locus 5	Locus 6	Locus 7	Locus 8
2. Mozambique         39         0.000         0.017         0.0098         0.001         0.001         0.001           3. Mozambique         18         0.073         0.116         0.157         0.001         0.045         0.000         0.001         0.001           4. Tanzania         20         0.167         0.088         0.267         0.158         0.029         0.000         0.001         0.001           5. France         21         0.000         0.001         0.000         0.001	B. gymnorhiza	1_South Africa	8	0.001	0.001	0.183	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
3. Mozambique         18         0.073         0.116         0.157         0.0015         0.045         0.000         0.001         0.001           4. Tanzania         20         0.167         0.088         0.267         0.158         0.029         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           6. France         30         0.044         0.133         0.000         0.011         0.001         <		2_Mozambique	39	0.000	0.000	0.167	0.000	0.098	0.001	0.001	0.001
4. Tanzania         20         0.167         0.088         0.267         0.158         0.029         0.000         0.001         0.001           5. France         21         0.000         0.001         0.000         0.008         0.009         0.001         0.001           7. India         11         0.001         0.001         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           8. Myanmar         18         0.053         0.056         0.000         0.001         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           9. Myanmar         32         0.074         0.067         0.093         0.063         0.107         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           10. Thailand         24         0.202         0.217         0.118         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001           13. Malaysia         30         0.212         0.058         0.141         0.123         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001 </td <td></td> <td>3_Mozambique</td> <td>18</td> <td>0.073</td> <td>0.116</td> <td>0.157</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.045</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.001</td>		3_Mozambique	18	0.073	0.116	0.157	0.001	0.045	0.000	0.001	0.001
5.France         21         0.000         0.001         0.000         0.000         0.009         0.001         0.001           6.France         30         0.044         0.133         0.000         0.000         0.001         0.0		4_Tanzania	20	0.167	0.088	0.267	0.158	0.029	0.000	0.001	0.001
6,France         30         0.044         0.133         0.000         0.031         0.001 <th< td=""><td></td><td>5_France</td><td>21</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.098</td><td>0.009</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td></th<>		5_France	21	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.098	0.009	0.001	0.001
7_Inda         11         0.001         0.028         0.001         0.000         0.001         0		6_France	30	0.044	0.133	0.000	0.130	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
8. Myanmar         18         0.053         0.056         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001           9. Myanmar         32         0.074         0.067         0.093         0.063         0.007         0.000         0.001 <td< td=""><td></td><td>7_India</td><td>11</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.298</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td></td<>		7_India	11	0.001	0.001	0.298	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
9. Myanmar         32         0.074         0.067         0.093         0.063         0.107         0.000         0.001         0.001           10. Thailand         33         0.001         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001           11. Thailand         24         0.086         0.208         0.049         0.093         0.075         0.000         0.001         0.001           13. Malaysia         30         0.212         0.058         0.141         0.128         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001           14. Malaysia         20         0.000         0.000         0.002         0.143         0.001         <		8_Myanmar	18	0.053	0.056	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
10_Thailand         33         0.001         0.000         0.001		9 Myanmar	32	0.074	0.067	0.093	0.063	0.107	0.000	0.000	0.001
11_Thailand         24         0.202         0.217         0.118         0.000         0.000         0.119         0.001         0.031           12_Thailand         24         0.086         0.208         0.049         0.093         0.075         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           13_Malaysia         20         0.082         0.090         0.116         0.108         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.204           15_Malaysia         30         0.000         0.000         0.004         0.032         0.143         0.001         0.001         0.237           16_Malaysia         22         0.000         0.064         0.032         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.237           17_Singapore         36         0.029         0.38         0.044         0.082         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.218           20_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.977         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.011         0.101         0.101         0.190         2.2         Malaysia         16         0.001         0.000         0.024         0.011         0.001         0.011         0.0		10_Thailand	33	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001
12_Thailand       24       0.086       0.208       0.049       0.093       0.075       0.000       0.001       0.001         13_Malaysia       30       0.212       0.058       0.141       0.123       0.000       0.001       0.170       0.000         14_Malaysia       20       0.082       0.090       0.016       0.103       0.001		11 Thailand	24	0.202	0.217	0.118	0.000	0.000	0.119	0.001	0.031
13_Malaysia         30         0.212         0.058         0.141         0.123         0.000         0.001         0.170         0.000           14_Malaysia         20         0.082         0.090         0.116         0.108         0.000         0.001         <		12_Thailand	24	0.086	0.208	0.049	0.093	0.075	0.000	0.001	0.001
14_Malaysia         20         0.082         0.090         0.116         0.108         0.000         0.001         0.204           15_Malaysia         30         0.000         0.000         0.092         0.143         0.001         0.001         0.001           16_Malaysia         22         0.000         0.0064         0.032         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.237           17_Singapore         36         0.029         0.038         0.044         0.082         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.237           18_Indonesia         34         0.120         0.098         0.216         0.112         0.167         0.138         0.001         0.001         0.201           20_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.024         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.201           22_Malaysia         38         0.036         0.026         0.123         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001 <t< td=""><td></td><td>13 Malavsia</td><td>30</td><td>0.212</td><td>0.058</td><td>0.141</td><td>0.123</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.170</td><td>0.000</td></t<>		13 Malavsia	30	0.212	0.058	0.141	0.123	0.000	0.001	0.170	0.000
15_Malaysia         30         0.000         0.000         0.002         0.143         0.001         0.001           16_Malaysia         22         0.000         0.000         0.064         0.330         0.043         0.001         0.021           17_Singapore         36         0.029         0.038         0.044         0.082         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.237           18_Indonesia         34         0.120         0.098         0.216         0.112         0.167         0.138         0.001         0.001         0.001           20_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.097         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.201           21_Malaysia         18         0.051         0.000         0.163         0.001 <t< td=""><td></td><td>14 Malavsia</td><td>20</td><td>0.082</td><td>0.090</td><td>0.116</td><td>0.108</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.204</td></t<>		14 Malavsia	20	0.082	0.090	0.116	0.108	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.204
16.Malaysia         22         0.000         0.000         0.064         0.030         0.043         0.001         0.001         0.237           17.Singapore         36         0.029         0.038         0.044         0.082         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.277           18.Indonesia         29         0.000         0.016         0.112         0.167         0.138         0.001         0.001           20.Indonesia         30         0.069         0.097         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.218           21.Malaysia         18         0.051         0.000         0.064         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.021           22.Malaysia         16         0.001         0.026         0.123         0.000         0.001 <t< td=""><td></td><td>15 Malavsia</td><td>30</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.092</td><td>0.143</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td></t<>		15 Malavsia	30	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.092	0.143	0.001	0.001	0.001
17_Singapore         36         0.029         0.038         0.044         0.082         0.046         0.001         0.001         0.277           18_Indonesia         34         0.120         0.098         0.216         0.112         0.167         0.138         0.001         0.001           19_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.097         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.001         0.216           21_Malaysia         18         0.051         0.000         0.064         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.214           22_Malaysia         16         0.010         0.001         0.022         0.000         0.001         <		16 Malaysia	22	0.000	0.000	0.064	0.030	0.043	0.001	0.001	0.237
18_Indonesia         34         0.120         0.098         0.216         0.112         0.167         0.138         0.001         0.001           19_Indonesia         29         0.000         0.016         0.148         0.001         0.000         0.000         0.001           20_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.097         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.218           21_Malaysia         18         0.051         0.000         0.064         0.000         0.010         0.001         0.204           22_Malaysia         16         0.001         0.000         0.163         0.001         0.220         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           23_Malaysia         16         0.001         0.000         0.163         0.001         0.011         0.001 <t< td=""><td></td><td>17 Singapore</td><td>36</td><td>0.029</td><td>0.038</td><td>0.044</td><td>0.082</td><td>0.046</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.277</td></t<>		17 Singapore	36	0.029	0.038	0.044	0.082	0.046	0.001	0.001	0.277
19_Indonesia         29         0.000         0.016         0.148         0.001         0.000         0.000         0.001           20_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.097         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.218           21_Malaysia         18         0.051         0.000         0.064         0.000         0.011         0.001         0.001         0.204           22_Malaysia         16         0.001         0.000         0.163         0.001         0.220         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001           23_Malaysia         16         0.001         0.000         0.163         0.001         0.220         0.000         0.001         0.055           24_Thailand         28         0.168         0.000         0.107         0.001         0.012         0.001         0.011         0.001         0.001         0.011         0.011 <td< td=""><td></td><td>18 Indonesia</td><td>34</td><td>0.120</td><td>0.098</td><td>0.216</td><td>0.112</td><td>0.167</td><td>0.138</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td></td<>		18 Indonesia	34	0.120	0.098	0.216	0.112	0.167	0.138	0.001	0.001
20_Indonesia         30         0.069         0.097         0.240         0.022         0.104         0.120         0.001         0.218           21_Malaysia         18         0.051         0.000         0.064         0.000         0.011         0.001         0.201         0.218           22_Malaysia         38         0.036         0.026         0.123         0.000         0.024         0.001         0.001         0.204           23_Malaysia         16         0.001         0.000         0.163         0.001         0.220         0.000         0.001         0.165           24_Thailand         28         0.168         0.000         0.011         0.001 <td< td=""><td></td><td>19 Indonesia</td><td>29</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.016</td><td>0.148</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td></td<>		19 Indonesia	29	0.000	0.016	0.148	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001
21_Malaysia       18       0.051       0.000       0.064       0.000       0.010       0.001       0.011		20 Indonesia	30	0.069	0.097	0.240	0.022	0.104	0.120	0.001	0.218
22_Malaysia       38       0.036       0.026       0.123       0.000       0.024       0.001       0.001       0.019         23_Malaysia       16       0.001       0.000       0.163       0.001       0.220       0.000       0.001       0.055         24_Thailand       28       0.168       0.000       0.017       0.001       0.011       0.01       0.011		21 Malaysia	18	0.051	0.000	0.064	0.000	0.010	0.001	0.001	0.204
Bit Participation         Bit PartiParit         Bit PartiParit <th< td=""><td></td><td>22 Malaysia</td><td>38</td><td>0.036</td><td>0.026</td><td>0 1 2 3</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.024</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0 1 9 0</td></th<>		22 Malaysia	38	0.036	0.026	0 1 2 3	0.000	0.024	0.001	0.001	0 1 9 0
Barbon         Differ         Differ<		23 Malaysia	16	0.001	0.000	0.163	0.001	0.220	0.000	0.001	0.055
Zi-Zi-Manna         Zi-Si         One         <		24 Thailand	28	0 168	0.000	0 107	0.001	0.038	0.000	0.001	0 165
Zie Tottam         36         0.000         0.001         <		25 Vietnam	31	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
Bill         Bill <th< td=""><td></td><td>26 Malaysia</td><td>36</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.062</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0 1 1 3</td></th<>		26 Malaysia	36	0.000	0.000	0.062	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0 1 1 3
Ziel mispiniso         1         0.102         0.034         0.148         0.000         0.051         0.001		27 Philippines	4	0 1 5 3	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
Ziel alde         Ziel alde         Ziel alde         District         District <thdistrict< th="">         District         Distri         District         District</thdistrict<>		28 Palau	23	0.012	0.034	0 148	0.000	0.058	0.001	0.001	0.277
30_Japan       29       0.000       0.098       0.047       0.001       0.101       0.001       0.001       0.011         31_Japan       28       0.084       0.000       0.001       0.011       0.001       0.001       0.011       0.011       0.001       0.011       0.011       0.001       0.001       0.011       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.011       0.011       0.011       0.011       0.011       0.011       0.011       0.011       0.027       36_Japan       28       0.032       0.000       0.264       0.001       0.033       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.001       0.000       0		29 Palau	32	0.000	0.030	0 1 2 7	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.317
31_Japan         28         0.084         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001           32_Japan         24         0.049         0.004         0.167         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.011         0.117         0.001         0.0		30 Janan	29	0.000	0.098	0.047	0.001	0 101	0.001	0.001	0.126
32_Japan         24         0.049         0.004         0.167         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.137           33_Japan         24         0.049         0.004         0.167         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.137           33_Japan         24         0.047         0.126         0.104         0.001         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000 </td <td></td> <td>31 Japan</td> <td>28</td> <td>0.084</td> <td>0.064</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.001</td>		31 Japan	28	0.084	0.064	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
Bit         Bit         Dist         Dis         Dist         Dist         Di		32 Japan	24	0.049	0.004	0.167	0.001	0.031	0.000	0.001	0 1 3 7
Bit Sexangula         Discription         Discription <thdiscription< th=""> <thdiscription< th=""></thdiscription<></thdiscription<>		33 Janan	24	0.047	0.126	0 104	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.188
Bit         Discrete         Discrete <thdiscrete< th="">         Discrete         D</thdiscrete<>		34 Janan	29	0.053	0.120	0 187	0.001	0.059	0.001	0.001	0.100
36_Japan         28         0.032         0.000         0.264         0.001         0.033         0.001         0.201           37_Australia         28         0.279         0.250         0.088         0.073         0.033         0.000         0.000         0.204           38_New Caledonia         29         0.081         0.017         0.365         0.287         0.094         0.001         0.001         0.050           39_Fiji         21         0.112         0.085         0.246         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.000           40_Samoa         18         0.221         0.001         0.185         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.000         0.000           B. sexangula         41_Myanmar         24         0.000         0.008         0.155         0.000         0.034         0.000         0.001		35 Japan	20	0.059	0.009	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.116	0.001	0.200
37_Australia         28         0.279         0.250         0.088         0.073         0.033         0.000         0.001		36 Japan	28	0.032	0.000	0.264	0.001	0.038	0.001	0.001	0.236
B. sexangula         26         0.273         0.203         0.005		37 Australia	28	0.279	0.000	0.088	0.073	0.033	0.000	0.000	0.000
B: sexangula         Samoa         18         0.221         0.001         0.185         0.001         0.000         0.000           B: sexangula         41_Myanmar         24         0.000         0.000         0.242         0.001         0.000         0.001         0.001         0.000         0.001           42_Myanmar         26         0.147         0.008         0.155         0.000         0.035         0.215         0.001         0.001		38 New Caledonia	20	0.081	0.017	0.365	0.287	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.050
40_Samoa         18         0.21         0.001         0.185         0.001         0.001         0.001         0.000         0.000           B. sexangula         41_Myanmar         24         0.000         0.000         0.242         0.001         0.000         0.001         0.000         0.001           42 Myanmar         26         0.147         0.008         0.155         0.000         0.035         0.215         0.001         0.001		30_New Caledonia	23	0.112	0.017	0.246	0.001	0.004	0.001	0.001	0.000
B. sexangula         41_Myanmar         24         0.000         0.000         0.242         0.001         0.000         0.304         0.000         0.001           42         Myanmar         26         0.147         0.008         0.155         0.000         0.035         0.215         0.001         0.001		40 Samoa	18	0.112	0.000	0.185	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.000
42 Mvanmar 26 0.147 0.008 0.155 0.000 0.035 0.215 0.001 0.001	R sevennula	41 Myanmar	24	0.221	0.001	0.100	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.000
42 WVarinar 20 0.147 0.000 0.100 0.000 0.000 0.210 0.001 0.001	D. sexangula	41_iviyarimar 42 Muonmor	24	0.000	0.000	0.242	0.001	0.000	0.304	0.000	0.001
43 Malayeia 28 0.117 0.029 0.205 0.117 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.117		43 Malayoia	20	0.147	0.000	0.100	0.117	0.000	0.213	0.001	0.117
+o_malaysia 20 0.117 0.029 0.299 0.117 0.000 0.090 0.001 0.117 44.Victorem 7 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.292		40_ivialaysia	20	0.117	0.029	0.295	0.001	0.000	0.090	0.001	0.117
45 Malawia 29 000 0011 0161 0001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001		45 Moleveie	20	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.230
46 47 Delitopiano 18 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.000 0.001		40_IVIalaysia	29 10	0.000	0.011	0.101	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.002
40 Philippines 10 0.000 0.000 0.419 0.000 0.001 0.120 0.001 0.176		40, 47_Philippines	10	0.000	0.000	0.419	0.000	0.001	0.120	0.001	0.176



Fig. 2-1. ΔK by Bayesian clustering (STRUCTURE, Pritchard et al. 2000) shown in four different population settings. (a) All populations of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza*, *B. sexangula*, and *B.* sp. (b) Populations of African *B. gymnorhiza* (1\_South Africa - 6\_France), *B. sexangula*, and *B.* sp. (c) Populations of *B. gymnorhiza*, *B. sexangula*, and *B.* sp in Philippines and Sabah, Malaysia (26\_Malaysia, 27\_Philippines, 45\_Malaysia - 48\_Philippines). (d) All populations of *B. gymnorhiza*.



Fig. 2-2. Results of Bayesian clustering (STRUCTURE, Pritchard et al. 2000) of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza*, *B. sexangula* and *B.* sp. Vertical columns represent single individuals, and the height of bars represents the proportion of cluster memberships.



Fig. 2-3. Result of Bayesian clustering (STRUCTURE, Pritchard et al. 2000) of African *Bruguiera gymnorhiza*, *B. sexangula*, and *B.* sp. Vertical columns represent single individuals, and the height of bars represents the proportion of cluster memberships.



Fig. 2-4. Result of Bayesian clustering (STRUCTURE, Pritchard et al. 2000) of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza, B. sexangula* and *B.* sp in Philippines and Malaysia. Vertical columns represent single individuals, and the height of bars represents the proportion of cluster memberships. Circles on the histogram represent a nucleotide substitution at site 184 on the *trn*S-*trn*G intergenic spacer region (A; orange circle, C; light blue circle).



Fig. 2-5. Results of Bayesian clustering (STRUCTURE, Pritchard et al. 2000) of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza*. Vertical columns represent single individuals, and the height of bars represents the proportion of cluster memberships.



Fig. 2-6. Neighbor-joining tree based on  $D_A$  distance for the 44 populations Bruguiera gymnorhiza or B. sexangula with more than 10 individuals calculated by microsatellites data. Bootstrap probabilities larger than 50% are shown above the branches. Circle or hexagonal graphs on the end of population names represent chloroplast DNA haplotypes shown in the population.



Fig. 7. Principal Codominant Analysis (PCoA) of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula*. The PCoA plots were based on the mean genotypic distance between all individual pairs of both species calculated by microsatellites data.



Fig. 2-8. Correlation between genetic and geographic distances among populations of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* with more than 10 individuals. (a) Populations were divided into the Indian Ocean and the Pacific Ocean. *P* values were P < 0.0001 and P < 0.01, respectively. (b) Populations were divided into four regions, the Indian Ocean (Africa), the Indian Ocean (Asia), the North Pacific Ocean, and the South Pacific Ocean. *P* values were P < 0.0902, P < 0.0001, P < 0.01, and P < 0.02, respectively.



Fig. 2-9. Haplotype network of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* and *B. sexangula* obtained by concatenated sequence of *trnL*-*trn*F and *trn*S-*trn*G IGSs. Circles on the haplotype network represent haplotypes found in *B. gymnorhiza*, hexagons in *B. sexangula*, and filled dot shows nucleotide substitution.



Fig. 2-10. Geographic distribution of chloroplast haplotypes of *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* obtained by concatenated sequence of *trn*L-*trn*F and *trn*S-*trn*G IGSs. Number represents abbreviated population name shown in Table 2-1. To help understanding of the readers, the haplotype network is shown on the map.



Fig. 2-11. Geographic distribution of chloroplast haplotypes of *Bruguiera sexangula* obtained by concatenated sequence of *trnL-trn*F and *trn*S-*trn*G IGSs. Number represents abbreviated population name shown in Table 2-1. To help understanding of the readers, the haplotype network is shown on the map.

## GENERAL DISCUSSION

This study employed genetic markers to clarify the species status of a critically endangered mangrove species, *B. hainesii*, and to delimitate conservation units in the most widespread mangrove species, *B. gymnorhiza*. Phylogenetic analysis of *B. hainesii* and its related species using both chloroplast and nuclear markers suggests that the endangered species is a hybrid between two other common species in the same genus. This finding provides an important suggestion for the conservation of mangroves. Although the finding looks providing unrelated data to conservation, in fact, it helps us to plan effective conservation management. Based on the result, we can reconsider or reduce conservation efforts that have been paid to *B. hainesii* and allocate limited resources to other genuinely vulnerable mangrove species.

The finding of hybrid status of a critically endangered species also provides valuable insight that other endangered mangrove species might also be hybrids between common species. Hybridization seems a common phenomenon for mangrove plant species. Many hybrid mangrove species have been reported: e.g. *Bruguiera* × *rhynchopetala* (Ge 2001), *Rhizophora* × *annamalayana* (Kathiresan 1995, 1999), *Rhizophora* × *lamarckii* (Tomlinson & Womersley 1976), *Rhizophora* × *selala* (Tomlinson 1978, Duke 2010), *Sonneratia* × *gulngai* (Duke 1984), and *Sonneratia* × *hainanensis* (Wang et al. 1999). Possible reason that various hybrid species exist in mangrove plants can be the overlapping distribution ranges. According to Tomlinson (1986), most mangrove species have wide distribution ranges and the geographic ranges overlap in many cases. Since propagules of mangrove species are buoyant and can be dispersed in the ocean (Tomlinson 1986), distribution ranges of closely related species could overlap easier than terrestrial plants. The sympatric distribution of congeners may increase chances of hybridization for mangrove plants.

Phylogenetic analysis of other threatened mangrove species should be conducted to confirm whether they are not hybrids. There are 11 threatened mangrove species globally (Polidoro et al. 2010). Several phylogenetic analyses on endangered mangrove species have been conducted (*Sonneratia griffithii*, Yang et al. 2015, *Avicennia rumphiana*; Huang et al. 2014), however, for the most species, phylogenetic information has not been obtained. Rare mangrove species may have possibilities of hybrids. Since budget available to conservation is limited, the species identity of threatened mangrove species should be confirmed via phylogenetic analyses using both nuclear and chloroplast DNA sequencings, to prioritize the species to be protected.

The delimitation of CUs in the distribution range of *B. gymnorhiza* provided another valuable insight for conservation genetics of mangroves. Although some widespread sea-dispersal species are capable of long-distance dispersal to maintain frequent gene flow and retain species cohesion (Takayama et al. 2008), this study showed clear genetic structure across the distribution range of the most widely distributed mangrove species *B. gymnorniza*, and suggests that the four distinct geographic units of the species should be treated as separate CUs. One of the factors that delimited the geographic distribution of the four units is the Malay Peninsula as reported in previous studies (Minobe et al. 2010, Urashi et al. 2013) and in other mangrove species (*Lumnitzera racemosa*; Su et al. 2006, *Ceriops tagal*; Liao et al. 2007, *Rhizophora apiculata*; Inomata et al. 2009, Ng et al. 2015, *Rhizophora mucronata*; Wee et al. 2015). The Malay Peninsula indeed acted as a land barrier for gene flow between populations by preventing sea-dispersal of propagules of the mangrove species.

- 58 -

In addition to the land barrier, this study also provided clear evidence that mangrove populations are genetically structured even in an oceanic region that could act as a corridor of dispersal of propagules by ocean currents within both the Indian and Pacific Oceans. Genetic structure across the Indian Ocean may be a new finding in mangrove species. This finding suggests that even though there is no land barrier, the vast ocean can act as a barrier to gene flow among populations by preventing dispersal of propagules. Indeed species richness of major mangrove species is different between Africa (8 species) and Asia (19-31 species) (Tomlinson 1986), but the geographic structure of the Indian Ocean has not been reported. The large difference in species richness indicates that the Indian Ocean may have inhibited seed dispersal of many mangrove species and historically acted as a boundary of species distribution. Adaptation to the local environment in Africa and Asia may be another possible factor. Genetic structure of the Pacific Ocean has been reported in some studies. For example, Rhizophora stylosa has genetically differentiated units in the North Pacific Ocean and the South Pacific Ocean (Wee et al. 2015), also in the two closely related *Ceriops* species, C. pseudodecandra and C. zippeliana (Sheue et al. 2010), unique haplotypes were found in each of these regions from several species in northern Australia (Lumnitzera racemosa; Su et al. 2006, Ceriops tagal; Huang et al. 2012), and species richness is different between the west and east coasts of Australia (Tomlinson 1986). Because effect to restrict seed dispersal has been found in multiple mangrove species, a historical barrier such as the Sahul Shelf and ocean circulation patterns in the Pacific Ocean mentioned in Chapter 2 may act as a barrier to gene flow.

Contrary to a conventional belief that widespread species have continual gene flow among populations, this study showed that even the most widely distributed mangrove

- 59 -

species *B. gymnorhiza* has restricted gene flow within oceanic regions. Also, similar reports were from other mangrove species in the Pacific Ocean. These findings may indicate that oceanic regions are also common barriers to gene flow in mangrove species. Even though the ocean acted as a vector or corridor for the expansion of distribution through sea dispersal of propagules, historical geological changes or simply the distance of the ocean among population might have prevented gene flow among regional populations and shaped the present genetic structures. Therefore, although mangrove species have buoyant diaspores and can disperse across the ocean, appropriate CUs of each mangrove species should be determined based on the genetic diversity by conducting phylogeographic analyses covering their entire distribution ranges.

# CONCLUSION

In this dissertation, the author makes two recommendations for mangrove conservation based on the findings of this study. First, as this study revealed that a critically endangered species is merely a hybrid, species identity of other threatened mangrove species should be confirmed via phylogenetic analyses, and conservation effort should be allocated appropriately. Second, as this study suggested clear genetic structures within oceanic regions for the most widely distributed mangrove species in the IWP region, conservation units of other mangrove species should be considered by conducting phylogeographic analyses that cover their entire distribution ranges.

## REFERENCES

- Allen JA, Duke NC (2006) Bruguiera gymnorrhiza (large-leafed mangrove). Species Profiles for Pacific Island Agroforestry, www.traditionaltree.org
- Allendorf FW, Leary RF, Spruell P, Wenburg JK (2001) The problems with hybrids: setting conservation guidelines. *Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, **16**, 613-622.
- Alongi DM (2002) Present state and future of the world's mangrove forests. *Environ. Conserv.*, **29**, 331-349.
- Andreasen K (2005) Implications of molecular systematic analyses on the conservation of rare and threatened taxa: Contrasting examples from Malvaceae. *Conserv. Genet.*, 6, 399-412.
- Arnaud-Haond S, Teixeira S, Massa SI, Billot C, Saenger P, Coupland G, Duarte CM, Serrão EA (2006) Genetic structure at range edge: low diversity and high inbreeding in Southeast Asian mangrove (*Avicennia marina*) populations. *Mol. Ecol.*, 15, 3515-3525.
- Arnold ML (1992) Natural hybridization as an evolutionary process. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst., 23, 237-261.
- Avise JC (1994) Molecular Markers, Natural History, and Evolution, Chapman & Hall. Barrows TT, Juggins S (2005) Sea-surface temperatures around the Australian margin

and Indian Ocean during the Last Glacial Maximum. *Quaternary. Sci. Rev.*, **24**, 1017–1047.

- Beissinger SR, Westphal MI (1998) On the use of demographic models of population viability in endangered species management. J. Wildl. Manage., **62**, 821-841.
- Benzie JAF (1999) Genetic Structure of Coral Reef Organisms: Ghosts of Dispersal Past. Amer. Zool., **39**, 131-145.
- Birky CW (1995) Uniparental inheritance of mitochondrial and chloroplast genes: mechanisms and evolution. *PNAS*, **92**, 11331-11338.
- Chapuis MP, Estoup A (2007) Microsatellite Null Alleles and Estimation of Population Differentiation. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, **24**, 621-631.
- Chenoweth SF, Hughes JM, Keenan CP, Lavery S (1998) When oceans meet: a teleost shows secondary intergradation at an Indian-Pacific interface. *Proc. Biol. Sci.*, **265**, 415-420.
- Clement M, Posada D, Crandall K (2000) TCS: a computer program to estimate gene genealogies. *Mol. Ecol.*, **9**, 1657-1659.
- Crandall KA, Bininda-Emonds ORP, Mace GM, Wayne RK (2000) Considering evolutionary processes in conservation biology. *Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, **15**, 290–295.

Cronn RC, Small RL, Wendel JF (1999) Duplicated genes evolve independently after

polyploid formation in cotton. PNAS, 96, 14406-14411.

- Dahdouh-Guebas F, Jayatissa LP, Di Nitto D, Bosire JO, Lo Seen D, Koedam N (2005)
  How effective were mangroves as a defence against the recent tsunami? *Curr. Biol.*, 15, 443-447.
- Darriba D, Taboada GL, Doallo R, Posada D (2012) jMoswlTest 2: more models, new heuristics and parallel compuring. *Nat. Methods.*, **9**, 772.
- de Guia APO, Saitoh T (2007) The gap between the concept and definitions in the Evolutionarily Significant Unit: the need to integrate neutral genetic variation and adaptive variation. *Ecol. Res.*, **22**, 604–612.
- Dempster AP, Laird NM, Rubin DB (1977) Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via Em Algorithm. J. R. Stat. Soc. B. Methodol., **39**, 1-38.
- Dethmers KEM, Broderick D, Moritz C (2006) The genetic structure of Australasian green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*): exploring the geographical scale of genetic exchange. *Mol. Ecol.*, **15**, 3931-3946.
- Dizon AE, Lockyer C, Perrin WF, Demaster DP, Sisson J (1992) Rethinking the stock concept: a phylogeographic approach. *Conserv. Biol.*, **6**, 24-36.
- Doyle JJ, Doyle JL (1987) A rapid DNA isolation procedure for small quantities of fresh leaf tissue. *Phytochem. Bull.*, **19**, 11-15.

- Duke NC (1984) A mangrove hybrid, *Sonneratia* × *gulngai* (Sonneratiaceae) from north-eastern Australia. *Austrobaileya*, **2**, 103-105.
- Duke NC (2010) Overlap of eastern and western mangrove in the South-western Pacific: hybridization of all three *Rhizophora* (*Rhizophora*ceae) combinations in New Caledonia. *Blumea*, **55**, 171-188.
- Duke NC, Benzie JA, Goodall JA, Ballment ER (1998) Genetic structure and evolution of species in the mangrove genus Avicennia (Avicenniaceae) in the Indo-West Pacific. Evolution, 52, 1612-1626.
- Duke NC, Ge XJ (2011) Bruguiera (Rhizophoraceae) in the Indo-West Pacific: a morphometric assessment of hybridization within single-flowered taxa. Blumea, 56, 36–48.
- Duke N, Kathiresan K, Salmo III SG, Fernando ES, Peras JR, Sukardjo S, Miyagi T (2010a) Bruguiera cylindrica. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.
- Duke N, Kathiresan K, Salmo III SG, Fernando ES, Peras JR, Sukardjo S, Miyagi T (2010b) Bruguiera gymnorhiza. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.
- Duke N, Kathiresan K, Salmo III SG, Fernando ES, Peras JR, Sukardjo S, Miyagi T, Ellison J, Koedam NE, Wang Y, Primavera J, Jin Eong O, Wan-Hong Yong J, Ngoc Nam V (2010c) *Bruguiera hainesii. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.*

- Earl DA, von Holdt BM (2012) STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. Conserv *Genet. Resour.*, **4**, 359-361.
- Ellstrand NC, Biggs D, Kaus A, Lubinsky P, McDade LA, Preston K, Prince LM, Regan HM, Rorive V, Ryder OA, Schierenbeck KA (2010). Got Hybridization? A Multidisciplinary Approach for Informing Science Policy. *BioScience*, **60**, 384-388.
- Evanno G, Regnaut S, Goudet J (2005) Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. *Mol. Ecol.*, **14**, 2611-2620.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization) (2007) The world's mangroves 1980-2005, FAO Forestry Paper 153. FAO, Rome.
- Faith DP (1992) Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. *Biol. Conserv.*, **61**, 1-10.
- Faridah Hanum I, van der Maesen LJG (1997) PROSEA: Plant Resources of South-East Asia 11, Auxiliary Plants. LIPI Press, Jakarta, Indonesia.
- Felsenstein J (1985) Confidence limits on phylogenies: an approach using the bootstrap. Evolution, 39, 783-791.
- Field CD (1998) Rehabilitation of mangrove ecosystems: an overview. Mar. Pollut. Bull., 37, 383-392.

Fosberg FR (1971) Mangroves vs. tidal waves. Biol. Conserv., 4, 38-39.

- Frankham DA, Ballou R, Briscoe JD (2010) Introduction to conservation genetics, 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Fraser DJ, Bernatchez L (2001) Adaptive evolutionary conservation: towards a unified concept for defining conservation units. *Mol. Ecol.*, **10**, 2741–2752.
- Funk WC, McKay JK, Hohenlohe PA, Allendorf FW (2012) Harnessing genomics for delineating conservation units. *Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, 27, 489-496.
- Ge XJ (2001) Reproductive biology and conservation genetics of mangroves in South China and Hong Kong. Ph. D. thesis, the University of Hong Kong.
- Goudet J (2001) FSTAT, a Program to Estimate and Test Gene Diversities and Fixation Indices Version 2.9.3. Available from www.unil.ch/izea/softwares/fstat.html
- Hamilton MB (1999) Four primer pairs for the amplification of chloroplast intergenic regions with intraspecific variation. *Mol. Ecol.*, **8**, 513-525.
- Hanski IA, Gilpin ME (1997) Metapopulation Biology: Ecology, Genetics, and Evolution, Academic Press.
- Hedrick PW, Miller PS (1992) Conservation genetics: techniques and fundamentals. *Ecol. Appl.*, **2**, 30-46.

Hou D (1957) A conspectus of the genus Bruguiera (Rhizophoraceae). Nova Guinea (ns),

8, 163-171.

Hou D (1958) *Bruguiera*. In: Flora Malesiana I, 5, 429-493.

- Huang L, Li X, Huang Y, Shi S, Zhou R (2014) Molecular evidence for natural hybridization in the mangrove genus *Avicennia*. *Pak. J. Bot.*, **46**, 1577-1584.
- Huang Y, Zhu C, Li X, Li X, Hu L, Tan F, Zhou R, Shi S (2012) Differentiated population structure of a genetically depauperate mangrove species *Ceriops tagal* revealed by both Sanger and deep sequencing. *Aquat. Bot.*, **101**, 46-54.
- Imai N, Takyu M, Nakamura Y, Nakamura T (2006) Gap formation and regeneration of tropical mangrove forests in Ranong, Thailand. *Plant. Ecol.*, **186**, 37-46.
- Inomata N, Wang XR, Changtragoon S, Szmidt AE (2009) Levels and patterns of DNA variation in two sympatric mangrove species, *Rhizophora apiculata* and *R. mucronata* from Thailand. *Genes. Genet. Syst.*, **84**, 277-286.
- IUCN (2015) The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015.2. www.iucnredlist.org
- Jaruwattanaphan T, Matsumoto S, Watano Y (2013) Reconstructing hybrid speciation events in the *Pteris cretica* group (Pteridaceae) in Japan and adjacent regions. *Syst. Bot.*, **38**, 15-27.

Kathiresan K (1995) Rhizophora × annamalayana: A new species of mangroves. Environ.
Ecol., 13, 240-241.

- Kathiresan K (1999) Rhizophora × annamalayana Kathir (Rhizophoraceae), a new nothospecies from Pichavaram mangrove forest in southeastern peninsular India. Environ. Ecol., 17, 500-501.
- Kochummen KM (1989) Rhizophoraceae. Pp. 302-323 in: F.S.P. Ng (ed.), Tree Flora of Malaya. A Manual for Foresters. Vol. 4. Longman Malaysia.
- Kondo K, Nakamura T, Piyakarnchana T, Mechvichai W (1991) Pollination in *Bruguiera* gymnorrhiza (*Rhizophora*ceae) in Miyara River, Ishigaki Island, Japan, and Phangnga, Thailand. *Plant. Spec. Biol.*, **6**, 105-109.
- Kondo K, Tsuruda T, Saito K, Yaguchi Y (1987) Pollination in *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza* and *Rhizophora mucronata* (*Rhizophora*ceae) in Ishigaki island, the Ryukyu islands, Japan. *Biotropica*, **19**, 377-380.
- Langella O (1999) Populations 1.2.30: a population genetic software. CNRS UPR9034. <u>http://www.pge.cnrs-gif.fr/bioinfo/populations/index.php</u>
- Levin DA, Francisco Ortega J, Jansen RK (1996) Hybridization and the extinction of rare plant species. *Conserv. Biol.*, **10**, 10-16.
- Liao PC, Havanond S, Huang S (2007) Phylogeography of *Ceriops tagal* (*Rhizophora*ceae) in Southeast Asia: the land barrier of the Malay Peninsula has

caused population differentiation between the Indian Ocean and South China Sea. Conserv. Genet., **8**, 89–98.

- Mantel N (1967) The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. *Cancer. Res.*, **27**, 209-220.
- McKay JK, Christian CE, Harrison S, Rice KJ (2005) "How local is local?"—A review of practical and conceptual issues in the genetics of restoration. *Restor. Ecol.*, **13**, 432-440.
- Minobe S, Fukui S, Saiki R, Kajita T, Changtragoon S, Shukor NAA, Latiff A, Ramesh BR, Koizumi O, Yamazaki T (2010) Highly differentiated population structure of a Mangrove species, *Bruguiera gymnorhiza* (*Rhizophoraceae*) revealed by one nuclear *GapCp* and one chloroplast intergenic spacer *trnF-trnL. Conserv. Genet.*, **11**, 301-310.
- Miryeganeh M, Takayama K, Tateishi Y, Kajita T (2014) Long-Distance Dispersal by Sea-Drifted seeds Has Maintained the Global Distribuion of *Ipomoea pes-caprae* subsp. *Basiliensis* (Convolvulaceae). *PLoS One*, **9**, e91836.
- Mogensen HL (1996) The hows and whys of cytoplasmic inheritance in seed plants. *Am. J. Bot.*, **83**, 383-404.

Mori GM, Zucchi MI, Sampaio I, Souza AP (2015a) Species distribution and

introgressive hybridization of two *Avicennia* species from the Western Hemisphere unveiled by phylogeographic patterns. *BMC Evol. Biol.*, **15**, 61.

- Mori GM, Zucchi MI, Souza AP (2015b) Multiple-geographic-scale genetic structure of two mangrove tree species: the roles of mating system, hybridization, limited dispersal and extrinsic factors. *PLoS One*, **10**, e0118710.
- Moritz C (1994) Defining evolutionarily significant units for conservation. *Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, **9**, 373–375.
- Moritz C (1999) Conservation units and translocations: strategies for conserving evolutionary processes. *Hereditas*, **130**, 217–228.
- Nei M, Tajima F, Tateno Y (1983) Accuracy of estimated phylogenetic trees from molecular data. J. Mol. Evol., 19, 153-170.
- Nettel A, Dodd RS (2007) Drifting propagules and receding swamps: Genetic footprints of mangrove recolonization and dispersal along tropical coasts. *Evolution*, **61**, 958-971.
- Ng WL, Onishi Y, Inomata N, Teshima KM, Chan HT, Baba S, Changtragoon S, Siregar IZ, Szmidt AE (2015) Closely related and sympatric but not all the same: genetic variation of Indo-West Pacific *Rhizophora* mangroves across the Malay Peninsula. *Conserv. Genet.*, **16**, 137-150.

Ong JE (1993) Mangroves - a carbon source and sink. Chemosphere, 27, 1097-1107.

- Palsbøll PJ, Be'rube' M, Allendorf FW (2007) Identification of management units using population genetic data. *Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, **22**, 11–16.
- Parida AK, Jha B (2010) Salt tolerance mechanisms in mangroves: a review. *Trees*, **24**, 199-217.
- Peakall R, Smouse PE (2006) GENALEX 6: genetic analysis in Excel.Population genetic software for teaching and research. *Mol. Ecol. Notes.*, **6**, 288-295.

Peltier WR (1994) Ice Age Paleotopography. Science, 265, 195-201.

- Pil MW, Boeger MRT, Muschner VC, Pie MR, Ostrensky A, Boeger WA (2011)
  Postglacial north-south expansion of populations of *Rhizophora mangle* (*Rhizophora*ceae) along the Brazilian coast revealed by microsatellite analysis.
  Am. J. Bot., 98, 1031-1039.
- Polidoro BA, Carpenter KE, Collins L, Duke NC, Ellison AM, Ellison JC, Farnsworth EJ,
  Fernando ES, Kathiresan K, Koedam NE, Livingstone SR, Miyagi T, Moore GE,
  Nam VN, Ong JE, Primavera JH, Salmo III SG, Sanciangco JC, Sukardjo S, Wang
  Y, Yong JWH (2010) The loss of species: mangrove extinction risk and geographic
  areas of global concern. *PLoS One*, 5, e10095.

Primavera JH (1998) Mangroves as nurseries: shrimp populations in mangrove and

non-mangrove habitats. Estuar. Coast. Shelf. S., 46, 457-464.

- Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Donnolley P (2000) Inferenceof population structure using multilocus genotypedata. *Genetics*, **155**, 945–959.
- Rambaut A, Drummond AJ, Suchard M, (2013) Tracer v1.6 MCMC Trace Analysis Package. Institute of Evolutionary Biology, University of Edinburgh, UK.
- Rhymer JM, Simberloff D (1996) Extinction by hybridization and introgression. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst., **27**, 83–109.
- Rousset F, 1997. Genetic differentiation and estimation of gene flow from F statistics under isolation by distance. The Genetics Society of America.
- Putz FE, Chan HT (1986) Tree growth, dynamics, and productivity in a mature mangrove forest in Malaysia. *Forest. Ecol. Manag.*, **17**, 211-230.
- Robertson AI, Duke NC (1987) Mangroves as nursery sites: comparisons of the abundance and species composition of fish and crustaceans in mangroves and other nearshore habitats in tropical Australia. *Mar. Biol.*, **96**, 193-205.
- Ronquist F, Teslenko M, van der Mark P, Ayres DL, Darling A, Höhna S, Larget B, Liu L, Suchard MA, Huelsenbeck JP (2012) MrBayes 3.2: efficient Bayesian phylogenetic inference and model choice across a large model space. *Syst. Biol.*, **61**, 539-542.

Ryder OA (1986) Species conservation and systematics: the dilemma of subspecies.

*Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, **1**, 9–10.

- Savolainen V, Manen JF, Douzery E, Spichiger R (1994) Molecular phylogeny of families related to Celastrales based on rbcL 5' flanking sequences. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.*, 3, 27–37.
- Schwarzbach AE, Ricklefs RE (2000) Systematic affinities of *Rhizophora*ceae and Anisophylleaceae, and intergeneric relationships within *Rhizophora*ceae, based on chloroplast DNA, nuclear ribosomal DNA, and morphology. *Am. J. Bot.*, **87**, 547-564.
- Sheue CR, Yong JWH, Yang YP (2005) The *Bruguiera* (*Rhizophora*ceae) species in the mangroves of Singapore, especially on the new record and the rediscovery. *Taiwania*, **50**, 251-260.
- Sheue CR, Liu HY, Tsai CC, Rahid SMA, Yong JWH, Yang YP (2009) On the morphology and molecular basis of segregation of *Ceriops zippeliana* and *C. decandra* (*Rhizophoraceae*) from Asia. *Blumea*, **54**, 220-227.
- Sheue CR, Liu HY, Tsai CC, Yang YP (2010) Comparison of *Ceriops pseudodecanda* sp. Nov. (*Rhizophora*ceae), a new mangrove species in Australasia, with related species. *Bot. Stud.*, **51**, 237-248.

Slatkin M (1985) Gene flow in natural populations. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst., 16, 393-430.

- Soltis PS, Gitzendanner MA (1999) Molecular systematics and the conservation of rare species. *Conserv. Biol.*, **13**: 471-483.
- Stammer D, Wunsch C, Giering R, Eckert C, Heimbach P, Marotzke J, Adcroft A, Hill CN, Marshall J (2002) Global ocean circulation during 1992-1997, estimated from ocean observations and a general circulation model. J. Geophys. Res-Oceans. (1978-2012), 107, 1-1.
- Su GH, Huang YL, Tan FX, Ni XW, Tang T, Shi SH (2006) Genetic variation in Lumnitzera racemosa, a mangrove species from the Indo-West Pacific. Aquat. Bot., 84, 341-346.
- Sun M, Lo EYY (2011) Genomic markers reveal introgressive hybridization in the Indo-West Pacific mangroves: a case study. *PLos One*, **6**, e19671.
- Swofford DL (2002) PAUP\*: Phylogenetic analysis using parsimony (\*and other methods), version 4.0. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Syring J, Farrell K, Businsky R, Cronn R, Liston A. (2007) Widespread genealogical nonmonophyly in species of Pinus subgenus Strobus. Syst. Biol., 56, 163-181.
- Taberlet P, Gielly L, Pautou G, Bouvet J (1991) Universal primers for amplification of three non-coding regions of chloroplast DNA. *Plant. Mol. Biol.*, **17**, 1105-1109.
- Takayama K, Kajita, T, Murata J, Tateishi Y (2006) Phylogeography and genetic

structure of *Hibiscus tiliaceus*—speciation of a pantropical plant with sea-drifted seeds. *Mol. Ecol.*, **15**, 2871-2881.

- Takayama K, Tamura M, Ono J, Tateishi Y, Kajita T (2011) Permanent Genetic Resources added to Molecular Ecology Resources Database 1 August 2010 – 30 September 2010. Mol. Ecol., Resour., 1, 219-222.
- Takayama K, Tamura M, Tateishi Y, Webb EL, Kajita T (2013) Strong genetic structure over the American continents and transoceanic dispersal in the mangrove genus *Rhizophora* (*Rhizophora*ceae) revealed by broad-scale nuclear and chloroplast DNA analysis. *Am. J. Bot.*, **100**, 1191-1201.
- Takayama K, Tateishi Y, Murata J, Kajita T (2008) Gene flow and population subdivision in a pantropical plant with sea-drifted seeds *Hibiscus tiliaceus* and its allied species: evidence from microsatellite analyses. *Mol. Ecol.*, **17**, 2730–2742.
- Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S (2013) MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analisis Version 6.0. Mol. Biol. Evol., 30, 2725-2729.
- Thompson JD, Higgins DG, Gibson TJ (1994) CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucleic. Acids. Res.*, **22**, 4673-4680.

- Tomlinson PB (1978) *Rhizophora* in Australasia, some clarification of taxonomy and distribution. J. Arnold. Arbor., **59**, 159-169.
- Tomlinson PB (1986) The Botany of Mangroves. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Tomlinson PB, Womersley JS (1976) A species of *Rhizophora* new to New Guinea and Queensland, with notes relevant to the genus. *Contr. Herb. Austral.*, **19**, 1-10.
- Triest L (2008) Molecular ecology and biogeography of mangrove trees towards conceptual insights on gene flow and barriers: A review. *Aquat. Bot.*, **89**, 138-154.
- Urashi C, Teshima KM, Minobe S, Koizumi O, Inomata N (2013) Inference of evolutionary history of a widely distributed mangrove species, *Bruguiera* gymnorrhiza, in the Indo-West Pacific region. *Ecol. Evol.*, **3**, 2251-2261.
- Valiela I, Bowen JL, York JK (2001) Mangrove forests: one of the world's threatened major tropical environments. *BioScience*, **51**, 807-815.
- Vogler AP, Desalle R (1994) Diagnosing units of conservation management. Conserv. Biol., 8, 354–363.
- Voris HK (2000) Maps of Pleistocene sea levels in Southeast Asia: shorelines, river systems and time durations. J. Biogeogr., 27, 1153-1167.

Wang R, Chen Z, Chen E, Zheng X (1999) Two hybrids of the genus Sonneratia

(Sonneratiaceae) from China. Guangxi Zhiwu, 19, 199-204.

- Waples RS (1991) Pacific salmon, *Oncorhynchus* spp., and the definition of 'species' under the Endangered Species Act. *Mar. Fish. Rev.*, **53**, 11–22.
- Warren BH, Strasberg D, Bruggemann JH, Prys-Jones RP, Thébaud C (2010) Why does the biota of the Madagascar region have such a strong Asiatic flavor? *Cladistics*, 26, 536-538.
- Wee AKS, Low SY, Webb EL (2014) Pollen limitation affects reproductive outcome in the bird-pollinated mangrove *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza* (Lam.) in a highly urbanized environment. Aquat. Bot., 120, 240-243.
- Wee AKS, Takayama K, Chua JL, Asakawa T, Meenakshisundaram SH, Onrizal, Adjie
  B, Ardli ER, Sungkaew S, Malekal NB, Tung NX, Salmo SG, Yllano OB, Saleh MN,
  Soe KK, Tateishi Y, Watano Y, Baba S, Webb EL, Kajita T (2015) Genetic
  differentiation and phylogeography of partially sympatric species complex *Rhizophora mucronata* Lam. and *R. stylosa* Griff. using SSR markers. *BMC. Evol. Biol.*, 15, 57.
- Weir BS, Cockerham CC (1984) Estimating F-statistics for the analysis of populations structure. *Evolution*, **38**, 1358-1370.

White AT, Martosubroto P, Sadorra MSM (1989) The coastal environmental profile of

Segara Anakan-Cilacap, South Java, Indonesia. International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management on behalf of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations/ United StatesCoastal Resources Management Project.

- Yang YC, Yang SH, Fang L, Li JF, Zhong CR, Zhou RC, Shi SH (2015) Phylogenetic position of *Sonneratia griffithii* based on sequences of the nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer and 13 nuclear genes. J. Syst. Evol., 53, 47-52.
- Zhou R, Gong X, Boufford D, Wu CI, Shi S (2008) Testing a hypothesis of unidirectional hybridization in plants: observations on Sonneratia, Bruguiera and Ligularia. BMC. Evol. Biol. 8, 149.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My deepest appreciation goes to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Tadashi Kajita, who encouraged me to complete the Ph.D. project, and challenged me to logical thinking. I will not forget all his efforts, support, suggestions, and patience. I am also deeply grateful to Prof. Dr. Yasuyuki Watano and Dr. Takeshi Asakawa Osawa for their various kinds of valuable suggestions throughout my research life at Chiba University. I especially thank Prof. Dr. Taka-aki Tamura and Prof. Dr. Takayoshi Tsuchiya for their comments on this dissertation. I also owe very significant debts to Dr. Koji Takayama, Dr. Yoshiaki Tsuda, Dr. Mohd Nazre Bin Saleh, Dr. Orlex Baylen Yallano, Dr. Takaya Iwasaki, Dr. Mohammad Vatanparast, Dr. Alison Kim Shan Wee, and Dr. Gustavo Maruyama Mori who taught me molecular experimental and analytical methods and academic writing, and for their valuable suggestions. I would like to express gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Edward Webb for helpful comments, support and hosting me at the National University of Singapore. I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Shigeyuki Baba, Prof. Dr. Yoichi Tateishi, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jean Wan Hong Dr. Yong, Sankararamasubramanian Halasya Meenakshisundaram, Dr. Bayu Adjie, Dr. Erwin Riyanto Ardli, Dr. Khin Khin Soe, Dr. Onrizal, Dr. Sarawood Sungkaew, Dr. Severino Garengo Salmo III, Dr. Francois Fromard, Dr. Monica Suleiman, Mr. Nguyen Xuan Tung, and Ms. Norhaslinda Binti Malekal for their suggestions, collecting samples, and/or accompanying field researches. I would also like to thank all students of Watano, Kajita, and Webb laboratories for their help and suggestion.

I would like to show special thanks to Dr. Satoshi Inoue, Dr. Satoshi Fujii, Dr. Mark Haley, Dr. Satoko Baba, Dr. Ryugo Oshima, and Dr. Hiwatig April Daphne Floresca for expanding my view. Finally, thanks to my family and friends for their encouragement, support, and love.